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					Der Wienerschnitzel dragster parked conspicuously to attract customers.
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					John and friends with DW mascot, admiring company-sponsored race car.

				

			By the early 1970s, John Galardi could breathe a deep sigh of relief. The worst of times seemed to be behind him, even though there were still seismic changes on the political, economic, and cultural landscape. Worldwide inflation raised the price of gasoline, food, and manufacturing. In the United States the rate of inflation topped 11 percent. The coming years would see the Watergate scandal lead to the resignation of Richard Nixon as president. A smooth transition to Gerald Ford’s presidency helped heal the country’s wounds. As one of his first official acts, President Ford granted Nixon a controversial pardon so as not to divide the country still further. He also gave amnesty to Vietnam draft evaders and deserters. 

			In one of the most tragically bizarre episodes of the decade, the self-anointed Reverend Jim Jones led several hundred Americans to the jungle of Guyana to establish a utopian commune that he named Jonestown. In a state of acute paranoia, he ordered nine hundred followers to commit suicide by consuming cyanide-laced fruit punch. Their mindless submission to his will led to the catchphrase “drinking the Kool-Aid.”

			1970 had seen fans around the world mourn the breakup of the Beatles. Their sadness was mitigated somewhat when in 1973 Paul McCartney released his first album since the breakup, Band on the Run. Its cover photograph of Wings band members and other celebrity friends breaking out of prison symbolized how McCartney, his wife, Linda, and his fellow musicians were leaving behind the confines of the past.
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					DW dragster zooming toward the finish line.

				

			The same could be said of John Galardi. While he wasn’t on the run, he was reinventing himself and taking advantage of his hard-earned recovery. His success had lit a flame that went far and above pure business interests. You could say he started to live a little. He discovered in himself a bit of the showman, and a desire to own “big-boy toys”—which he carried over into flamboyant marketing strategies for Der Wienerschnitzel and his personal life.

			Speed and fun were all part of John’s orientation toward life and business. He decided that a great publicity venture for Der Wienerschnitzel would be to sponsor race cars. He loved to go to the track and watch the sleek machines zipping by so fast he could hardly read the words “Der Wienerschnitzel” painted on the side.

			He found other ways to relax from the daily grind that included spending time with his family. He took up boating and water skiing. He purchased a little speedboat from Bob Trujillo and took it out to the Salton Sea, southeast of Palm Springs and Coachella. He was often seen driving it at breakneck speed or flying behind the boat on water skis with Phil or Myrna at the helm.

			Myrna remembers it as a wonderful time. “This was the era when the Salton Sea was going to be the ‘Riviera of the West.’ The plan was to build a big, beautiful marina on the north shore of a body of water that had been created in 1905 when the Colorado River broke through an irrigation canal and flowed into the Salton Basin, creating a new recreation area for boating and fishing enthusiasts. Unfortunately, that never worked out, as pollution and increasing salinity of the water created an environmentally problematic habitat. But it was fun while it lasted.”

			In the mid-1960s John and Myrna had discovered the pleasure of snow skiing when they joined friends from Rolling Hills on their first trip to Aspen, Colorado. John was hooked on the exhilaration of flying down the mountain, and Myrna followed closely behind. Each of them possessed the natural athletic ability to handle the challenge of Aspen’s varied terrain.

			John’s lifestyle became a little more hedonistic as success enabled him to let his hair down somewhat. He reveled in going out to clubs to drink with buddies and, of course, business associates. Even though his family had always been his top priority, he didn’t always turn up for dinner. And he wasn’t great at attending PTA meetings or any other school-related activities.

			However, he did love to take the family on vacation. Whenever Teresa and Karen could take school breaks or weekend trips, the family headed up to Heavenly Valley in Lake Tahoe, California, where John would eventually purchase a small hotel, The Waystation, in partnership with his friend and attorney Richard Hodge. the Waystation was where they stayed on their many ski trips, but as Teresa recalls, “He also held a lot of business conferences and meetings there. Dad never purchased a hotel, condo, or horse without it having a business and tax purpose.”

			After the company’s turnaround, John felt so optimistic about the future that he decided to take the entire family to Aspen, Colorado, for the winter for some much-needed rest and relaxation. The girls had inherited their parents’ natural athletic abilities, so they took to the slopes as if they were born to ski.

			The following winter, after spending several glorious months in Aspen with the family, John decided to buy a condo as a permanent ski getaway in Mammoth Mountain, California, a six-hour drive from Rolling Hills. It was close enough that they could make the trip whenever they chose. The condo was right next to Ski Lift 16, so they could literally walk out the door and onto the ski lift. For the next five years, the Galardis enjoyed wonderful vacations with family and friends at one of the best ski resorts in California in the idyllic spot they lovingly named Galardi Gulch. Not bad for a farm boy from Missouri.
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					John with the girls after a day on the slopes.
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					John and Myrna with friends in Aspen.

				

			Every summer, John and Myrna made the long road trip back to Missouri to visit Myrna’s family. They’d pile the girls into the car (whatever car John had at the time—he changed cars often) and stay at motels along the way. With each passing mile, Myrna would get more excited about seeing her family, and John would be reminded of just how far he had come in such a short period of time. Was it just eight years ago he and Phil were shoveling snow, collecting eggs from the chicken coop, or running for their lives out of a burning building on the two-lane highway of Grandview, Missouri?

			The Hickeys were always eager to hear how well their son-in-law was doing and to welcome him and their two beautiful granddaughters into the family fold. These visits gave Myrna and her mother a chance to catch up on all they’d been missing during their time apart. The annual trips were a healing balm for Myrna, but John could only take these family visits for a short amount of time. It was hard for him to be away from Der Wienerschnitzel for more than a few days before he started getting anxious to get back to the office. Still, they came every year to Missouri as he had promised Myrna, and they were there for all the important family celebrations, including Myrna’s brother’s wedding.

			By the end of 1974 Der Wienerschnitzel’s revenues and expenses were under control, and the company generated a net income of over $1 million. Additionally, $527,000 of income tax did not have to be paid because of a net loss carried forward from previous years when the company was hemorrhaging cash. Now the company had 57 leased or company-owned restaurants and 134 franchised restaurants after jettisoning the losing stores from their inventory.
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					John and Myrna with Teresa and Karen at Myrna’s brother’s wedding.

				

			That same year, John directed his architects to come up with a new design for the Der Wienerschnitzel stores. The project was dubbed The Concept 80, signifying that the stores would have a fresh, new look for the next decade, and a design that responded to changing consumer tastes. The Concept 80 offered inside seating at certain sites rather than just drive-thru service. It also boasted better kitchen facilities and a higher-quality drive-thru arrangement. The new design was in response to market research, which showed that many customers wanted a place to sit and eat at the store rather than just pick up a meal at the drive-thru and leave. The other noticeable change was the replacement of the runner-chargers with speaker boxes that greeted you and took your order. 
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					Illustration of the new Concept 80 design.

				

			Although the old A-frame remained a sentimental favorite with many customers, The Concept 80 went into production as sales figures continued to climb. John expressed his gratitude to all the people who had stuck with him and helped him turn the company around by instituting a profit-sharing plan for his permanent corporate employees. In the first year of the program, $111,217 was distributed.

			The money was finally rolling in, but unlike the freewheeling sixties, John insisted on strict financial controls to make sure that growth would be carefully managed by a team that reported directly to him. Nevertheless, when money is pouring in, there is a temptation to spend it. John had never been one to squander money, but now, at the age of thirty-six, he could literally afford anything he wanted. He was working hard for it, so why not indulge himself a little?

			One balmy afternoon John and Paul Hironimus, his old basketball buddy and coworker, were out checking one of the local Der Wienerschnitzel stands. Paul remembers he was driving them around in his son’s 1965 Impala. “That car was in really bad shape. Every time we stopped and started, it backfired and smoke came out.” It wasn’t exactly the right car to project an image of success and prosperity. Paul continues, “On the way back to the office, John said, ‘Let’s stop in at the Rolls Royce dealership. I’m thinking about buying a Rolls Royce.’ I said, ‘Okay,’ so we pull in there and as I stopped the car, it backfires real loud. Then we get out of the Impala and walk up to the Rolls Royce dealership with our shirttails hanging out, and there were three salesmen standing with their hands behind their backs, and none of them makes a move towards us. John goes into the showroom and looks around, and finally someone comes in from the back and says, ‘Can we help you?’ and John answers, ‘Yes, I’m thinking about buying a new car.’

			“John looked at the models and asked, ‘Paul, which of these two do you like better?’ I pointed to one. John looked at the other one and said, ‘I think I’ll take this one.’ That was typical John. He’d always ask your opinion, then do whatever he wanted.

			“He gave the salesman Alan Fuller’s card, who was Der Wienerschnitzel’s controller at the time, and said, ‘Call him. He’ll set up all the payment arrangements. Can you have it delivered before I go home from the office this evening?’ The salesman almost fell over. John never even kicked the tires. I came out of there more nervous than when I went in, because John didn’t even bother to test-drive the car. He just looked at it. I think he thought it was classy, so he bought it.”

			At that time, the average price of a Rolls Royce was about $21,000, which in today’s dollars is the equivalent of $134,000.
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					John’s brand-new silver Rolls Royce.

				

			Not everyone in the Galardi family was so enamored of the Rolls Royce. Karen, who was thirteen at the time, lectured her father: “You’re not driving me to school in that!” Looking back, she explains, “I realize now it was probably the one time he really wanted to drive me to school, and maybe some people might really think it was cool, but I was embarrassed by it.” Myrna, who had always preferred Volkswagens, shared Karen’s opinion.

			According to Paul, “John bought that Rolls Royce and immediately started complaining about it. A light on the dash would come on for every different thing, oil and gas and heat, everything. He’d have to keep taking it in to get it fixed.” Of course, that didn’t end John’s passion for exotic cars. Before long, he became a collector. He loved Porsches and even indulged in a Ferrari Dino, which he kept sequestered in the garage until the day Teresa took it out for a little spin and wrapped it around a tree. When John found out, his response was just like his father’s when John and Phil burned down the gas station: “As long as she’s okay, that’s what’s important; the car can be replaced.” He was indeed his father’s son.

			By 1976 any pending litigation from the public offering debacle had been resolved, and the company assets increased by $1 million. Working capital exceeded $3 million. The company’s balance sheet was healthy, and the Mustard Sheet—the in-house newsletter—was printing all good news. John felt it was time to make another big move.

			Bob Trujillo recalls a company meeting where John discussed the idea of moving the entire company from its offices in Torrance to a bigger office in Newport Beach, forty miles away. No one was in favor of it. The entire corporate staff was settled in Torrance with the exception of John. They owned homes in Torrance; their children were in school there; and the idea of an eighty-mile round-trip commute sounded dismal. John listened attentively to everyone’s objections.

			Two weeks later he announced that they were moving the corporate offices to Newport Beach.

			As difficult as it was for many, eventually everyone made the transition. This was a testament to their trust in John and their willingness to follow him to the ends of the earth. Some complained, but when the move was completed, everyone admitted it’d been the right thing to do. The new surroundings were beautiful, and the change boosted company morale. Sales kept climbing, heading to nearly $5 million annually.
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					John and Teresa at her high school graduation, 1970.

				

			The demands of Der Wienerschnitzel continued to take a toll on the Galardis’ family life. In order to maintain control over company operations in the field, John was constantly traveling. At the same time, Myrna, Teresa, and Karen carved out an independent life for themselves and focused all their attention on their love of horses and equestrian competitions. Showing horses throughout California and elsewhere at various events was an expensive hobby that John willingly financed. John was proud of his daughters’ accomplishments. Even though he was rarely able to see them compete, he made sure they had everything required to participate in their favorite sport, including a portable tack room emblazoned with the Der Wienerschnitzel insignia. He covered the outfits, the boarding of the horses, access to a trainer, and the travel from one show to another. Myrna would hitch up the horse trailer to an RV, which they’d stay in, and go from location to location. On the days the girls were in school, Myrna would take her horse out for a ride in one of the rings or along a trail above the Pacific Ocean. It became one of her abiding passions. 

			Despite his frantic schedule John did manage to make it to a few special events, like graduations and school performances. But it was never enough for the girls. Unfortunately, the distance between John’s world and Myrna’s world had been widening for some time and was about to reach a breaking point. His daughters yearned for their father’s time and attention. They tried to hide their disappointment, but sometimes what is not said is often heard.

			Balancing home life with his desire for success was becoming even more difficult for John. His personal life was imploding. However, Der Wienerschnitzel continued to grow and now boasted 265 stores in twenty-two states. It was projected to reach a total of 365 stores by 1979. In the spirit of continued innovation, John considered changing the standard Der Wienerschnitzel menu by adding hamburgers. The idea might have seemed sacrilege to some, but John was well aware that in the fast-food world, hamburgers were the number-one-selling item. He didn’t want to compete head-to-head with any of the fast-food hamburger chains; he just wanted to broaden Der Wienerschnitzel’s appeal. If a family of four came in and one of them didn’t like hot dogs, they were liable to lose all four customers. So “mouth-watering hamburgers” were added to the menu in 1977.

			Unfortunately, hamburgers didn’t take off in a big way and accounted for only 6 percent of sales. But they did have the desired effect of appealing to a wider customer base. Whether they would succeed in the long run remained to be seen, but the company committed itself wholeheartedly to the concept. It was certainly a departure from the company’s core menu—everything hot dogs—but it was to John a gamble worth taking.

			A national television ad campaign was launched with this catchy jingle:

			You’re looking for a place to eat with friends and family,

			Some say burgers, some say hot dogs, no one can agree.

			Head to Wienerschnitzel, we’re all together now,

			with hamburgers and hot dogs, no more need to look around.

			With hamburgers and hot dogs it’s all together now.

			At Der Wienerschnitzel it’s all together now

			At Der Wienerschnitzel!

			In a piece of sad irony, as the “All together now” campaign was filling the airwaves, Myrna filed for divorce, and the couple separated. Richard Hodge, his wife, Terry, and many other friends who cared deeply about both Myrna and John did their best to keep them together. Myrna and John tried to patch things up for a while, but the differences in their lifestyles had become too great. At the end of 1977, the divorce became final. Myrna and the girls stayed in the house in Rolling Hills, and John moved to an apartment on the water in Newport Beach close to corporate headquarters. 
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					Television ad letting viewers know that hamburgers have been added to the menu.

				

			During these years John tried to throw himself into work, but his heart wasn’t in it. He made a decision he thought would be best for the company—he stepped down from his role as president on October 28, 1977, and became the CEO of Der Wienerschnitzel, and he appointed Bob Trujillo president in his place to take over the day-to-day operations. He was confident the company would be in safe hands with Bob while he was far away trying to regain some balance in his life—on a boat in the Bahamas.

			John Galardi needed a complete change of scenery.
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					November 1977 in-house newsletter, The Mustard Sheet, announcing Bob Trujillo as president.
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					John contemplating the next big thing, 1960s.
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					Architectural rendering of Der Wienerschnitzel store design.

				

			John Galardi was a visionary and a man like no other. Against all odds he managed to build the largest hot-dog chain in the world. The company he started in 1961, with the unusual name and iconic red roof, left an undeniable imprint on the American landscape. Through Wienerschnitzel, he created jobs and entrepreneurial opportunities for thousands of Americans. He also established a dependable place where families and friends could come together and enjoy each other’s company—perhaps the most important part to John, since la famiglia was always the focus of his vision—as well as some fun food. As John used to say, “Who doesn’t like hot dogs?” 

			John didn’t much like talking about himself. He would rather hear what you had to say, which is a rare and humbling quality. He did, however, enjoy speaking off-the-cuff wherever he was, even at large franchisee conventions. He’d read the audience and temper his remarks to the atmosphere in the room. In corporate brainstorming sessions, he liked the give-and-take of ideas among his management team. And when everyone was done sharing, he’d say, “Well, here’s the deal.” That was the signal to everyone listening that John had the game plan fixed in his head.

			His desktop at Wienerschnitzel was immaculate. He must have believed that an uncluttered desk leads to an uncluttered mind. And that rang true of John’s thinking. He had an uncanny ability to focus, and to “cut to the chase.” He would identify where an opportunity or a problem lurked, and like an agile basketball player (which he still was, into his forties), he’d grab the ball, run with it, and score.

				
					[image: ]
					Executive portrait of John Galardi.

				

			For years, many friends had asked John to write a book about his life and its lessons, but the idea never interested him. John was a man of action, not words. He was a man always on the move, who “drove thru” life with speed and gusto. He had no time or desire to sit down for hours on end to examine his life. He preferred to be living it. So, instead, the Galardi family has written this book for him, as a legacy.

			We’ve put together a portrait of a multifaceted, larger-than-life guy who was a father, a husband, an entrepreneur, and a risk-taker, as well as an inspiration to so many people who relied upon John for advice and guidance. In writing this book, filled with reminiscences and snapshots, we hope that readers who did not have the privilege of knowing John Galardi will catch a glimpse of the extraordinary man he was. And for those who did know John, it will hopefully remind them of what he meant to them. And to the world.

			The Galardi Family

			Cindy Galardi Culpepper, Teresa (Galardi) Hinkel,

			Karen Galardi, Skylar Galardi, and JR Galardi

			November 2017
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					Galardi family trip to Hawaii, 1988, (L-R back) John, Cindy, Karen and her husband, Jim (L-R front) Lillian Palmer (Cindy’s mother), Virginia, Len (Virginia’s friend), and Teresa.
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					Hungry for profits and hot dogs at another Der Wienerschnitzel opening.

				

			 
	
			Six

			IPO: Yes or No?
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					Cutting a ribbon of one-dollar bills at yet another opening.

				

			As the permissiveness of the sixties rolled toward a new decade, images played out in the media showing the younger generation expressing love and understanding. At the same time tens of thousands of people protested the Vietnam War and injustice through marches and riots that sometimes turned deadly. Ordinary Americans tried to make sense of all of this while getting on with their lives. The soundtrack of this era was best captured by the Beatles in “Revolution” and the musical Hair. Pop artist Andy Warhol raised the level of mundane Campbell soup cans and pictures of Chairman Mao to the level of high art.

			By October 1967, a paranoid President Johnson instructed the FBI and CIA to investigate anti–Vietnam War protesters. His administration suspected Communists were responsible. The economy, while still robust, was showing signs of inflationary pressure, and the prime rate (the interest charged to corporate America) was hovering just above 6 percent, with predictions that it might increase. Uncertainty reigned, and for many Americans it was a confusing time.

			John Galardi was steeped in his own daily dramas. Some of the early Der Wienerschnitzel stores, owned by partnerships made up of business associates Bob Trujillo had put together, were beginning to show signs of trouble. Bob recalls, “You know it’s all blue sky. You’re going in wide open thinking you’re going to make a fortune. You’re looking at McDonald’s out there building like crazy, and you think, ‘We can do the same thing.’ John was super good as far as optimism was concerned, and working with him was always great, but neither of us had a solid business background, so we just learned from doing it the hard way. Some of those first stores had to be closed down because they weren’t profitable, and some of our friends lost money. But what we learned from that was the hot-dog concept is difficult. It’s not like tacos or chicken. It’s a snack and it’s lunch only. It’s harder to make it successful, and we hadn’t yet found the formula to make it work, but we knew we would because John never stopped trying—he would never give up.”
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					A John Hancock executive hands John a check for $1 million.

				

			John and Bob sat down at one of their regular brainstorming sessions to mull over what was happening company-wide. Kirk was now in Texas opening up new territories for Der Wienerschnitzel. He was also slated to go to Chicago to develop stores in the Midwest. Big money was coming in from the royalty fees and property rentals paid by franchisees and from purchases of supplies, equipment, and produce. But the rapid expansion already underway was quickly eating up all their capital. The two men were in agreement that some new creative idea was needed to generate additional working capital to pay for the current and future commitments they’d already made. John had an interesting offer from his attorney Richard “Dick” Hodge that he wanted to run by Bob.

			Hodge had been handling John’s legal affairs for the past couple of years, and the two men had become close friends. Hodge was a sophisticated Beverly Hills lawyer who greatly admired John’s intelligence and ambition. He could see beyond John’s Missouri farm boy persona that he was smarter than everyone else in the room. Richard and John enjoyed regular drinks together at the Luau restaurant or other swanky Beverly Hills bars, surrounded by glamorous movie stars and sophisticated businesspeople. John thought that by associating himself with Dick Hodge, some of that sophistication would rub off. He respected Dick, so when he had something to say, John listened intently.

			Hodge had a plan that he might be able to arrange a $1 million loan with the John Hancock Mutual Life Insurance Company in Boston, which would be enough to cover Der Wienerschnitzel’s short- and medium-term cash needs, until the stores coming online started generating sufficient revenue to pay back the loan over time. Both John and Bob could see that the Hancock option was risky—they would be taking on enormous debt. Up to this point in the company’s history, they’d been funding all their needs from cash flow. But with the franchise concept firmly in place and new franchisee inquiries and interest pouring in daily to the home office in Torrance, this seemed like a viable deal.

			John grabbed a pen and a napkin and started crunching the numbers. Every new franchise would immediately bring in $20,000 in cash up front, which in addition to the 5 percent royalty generated by new stores would enable Der Wienerschnitzel to service the debt. There would obviously be costs associated with the building and opening of new stores, but the accumulation of that regular cash in the bank would pull the company out of a cash crunch and (hopefully) fuel robust growth.
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					No end in sight to company expansion across the country.

				

			This was music to John Galardi’s ears—a step up into the big leagues. He’d been paying close attention to Glen Bell’s franchise success with Taco Bell and witnessed McDonald’s popping up on every street corner. Ray Kroc, the president of McDonald’s, at one point even contacted John to talk about a possible deal with Der Wienerschnitzel, but other than a sit-down meeting, the conversation never went anywhere. John never wavered from his ambition to “be as big as Taco Bell, maybe even as big as McDonald’s, someday.” He remembered a Mark Twain line that had stuck with him from his college days: “Twenty years from now you will be more disappointed by the things that you didn’t do than by the ones you did do.”

			John pushed the paper napkin toward Bob. “Let’s do it.”

			Dick Hodge set up the meeting with John and the executives at John Hancock. Their credit department had done due diligence on the financial statements prepared by Der Wienerschnitzel’s accountants. The numbers looked pretty good, but more importantly they were very impressed with John Galardi. They quickly agreed to commit to a $1 million loan. John was relieved that Hancock didn’t require him to personally sign the loan; this was a corporate loan, and if things went south, John’s personal assets were protected as well as his other business ventures, which were kept apart from Der Wienerschnitzel Unlimited thanks to his team of lawyers.

			But there was a quid pro quo. John had to agree to purchase thirty building sites Hancock had foreclosed on that were sitting in their real estate portfolio and not producing any revenue. John Galardi and John Hancock were definitely in business together. John got the money he needed, and Hancock unloaded their nonperforming real estate. In addition, Hancock received 10 percent of the company shares.

			Once the Hancock deal closed and the check for $1 million was deposited in the corporate bank account, John felt a new lease on life. He set himself a goal to open at least two hundred more stores by 1970, and to help him realize that dream, he promoted Bob Trujillo from director of real estate and investments to vice president of Der Wienerschnitzel. The expansion program kicked into high gear, and red-roofed A-frames began dotting the American landscape from California to Florida. In less than seven years, Der Wienerschnitzel grew from a local enterprise to a national chain, and there was no end in sight.

			But why stop at hot dogs? Why not start another new food franchise? What about fish-and-chips? When John Galardi had an idea, he went with it. Within four months of receiving the $1 million loan from Hancock, John had opened his second franchise business, Friar Fish, with the first four fish restaurants opening in California. They were slow to get started, but John had been through that before. The fish chain was already finding franchisee interest in Hawaii, Nevada, Oregon, and Washington, DC, so John was looking to have another winner on his hands.

			During this time, John’s main focus was on the marketing side of Der Wienerschnitzel. The company needed to help all their new franchisees attract customers and make money for themselves and the company. Advertising was a major factor in the fast-food industry, where even loyal customers could be very fickle. Household names had to constantly find new and exciting ways to stay competitive and deliver their message through clever and catchy print, radio, and television advertising. Memorable characters and catchy phrases were a must for grabbing a customer’s attention. “Der fixin’s are derlightful, der’s fun in every biteful” became Der Wienerschnitzel’s first advertising slogan in 1967. To add to “der fun,” there was a radio jingle that went like this:

			Der Wienerschnitzel, Wienerschnitzel,

			This must be the place.

			Just drive right in

			and put a great big hot dog in your face.

			John’s daughter Teresa fondly recalls, “I would hear classmates humming that song in the hallways at school, and sometimes people would see me and start singing that song on purpose.” That clever ditty was the work of Robert and Richard Sherman, two young songwriters, whose famed songwriting career for Walt Disney (It’s a Small World, Mary Poppins, Chitty Chitty Bang Bang, The Jungle Book) would go on to earn multiple Academy Awards. It was an early sign that John Galardi knew how to spot the best.

			And the first thirty-second TV spot had this snappy jingle:

			Fun, Der Wienerschnitzel,

			Yum, Der Wienerschnitzel,

			Come to Der Wienerschnitzel fun yum yum.

			Eat at Der Wienerschnitzel,

			Treat at Der Wienerschnitzel,

			Wienerschnitzel hot dogs are der top dogs.

			Yum yummy yummy yum,

			Every bite is full of fun,

			Bring your Dad and Mummy,

			You would be so happy if you come, yum yum.

			Der fixins are derlightful,

			Der’s fun in every biteful

			At der happy Wienerschnitzel, yum yum hot dog.

			There was no doubt John was taking a page out of Glen Bell’s playbook. He might not have always had klieg lights or live entertainment, but he enlisted the help of pretty girls, cavalcades of cars lining up in front of stores, the ever-useful coupons that promoted opening-day specials, and of course advertising, advertising, and more advertising.
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					Miss Santa Ana helps promote the opening of another store with (R-L) Paul Hironimus, Bob Trujillo, John Galardi, and unknown associates.

				

			Myrna recalls that in the local fast-food community, they all attended each other’s opening days. Even though they were rivals for the same fast-food dollars, on a personal level they were all friends. Standing around sipping a soda or munching on a hot dog to make the place look busy was how they showed their support for each other. And in the late 1960s, there were a lot of openings to attend. It seemed as if every week, two or three Der Wienerschnitzel stores were breaking ground. 

			One of the major differences between Der Wienerschnitzel and most other fast-food chains was that Der Wienerschnitzel was still a family-owned company, completely under the control of John Galardi. By comparison, McDonald’s went public in 1965, and that same year Colonel Harland David Sanders sold a majority interest in KFC to financier Jack C. Massey. It was reported that Colonel Sanders just didn’t like the business side of the business.

			Seeing all the economic changes in the fast-food industry and the equally dramatic shifts in Der Wienerschnitzel’s business, John was forced to think about taking the company public. Pressure to grow the business combined with the commitment to repay the Hancock loan made this a serious option. But the idea of being subject to Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulations and a board of directors wasn’t something that sat well with John’s independent mind-set. On the other hand, a public offering of stock would infuse the company with enough cash to cover all their loan costs and fund ongoing construction and land purchases. Within his circle of advisers, John found a lot of support for the idea. Richard Hodge notes, “The first high point [in the company’s history] was when we secured the financing from John Hancock, and the second was John’s decision to go out with a public stock offering.”

			In the September 18, 1968, issue of California Business, an interview with John Galardi was published with the headline “Name of the Game Is Money.” His interview revealed an abundance of self-confidence and optimism about a proposed stock offering of 150,000 shares at ten dollars a share that would increase his personal wealth from $2 million to $15 million. “We’re opening a hundred new units a year, or about two a week. We might raise that to two hundred a year,” John said. The reporter added, “There should be five hundred of Galardi’s colorful hot-dog stands around the country by 1971.” Most risk-taking entrepreneurs like John had an unshakeable faith in their own story, and John was acting accordingly. The underwriters felt fairly certain that the initial public offering would be successful.

			A notification of the stock offering for 500,000 shares, at a reduced price of five dollars per share, was filed in February 1969. The purposes of the stock sale included acquisition of land and construction of Der Wienerschnitzel stands, site acquisition of some thirty Friar Fish stores in Washington, DC, and an increase in the company’s working capital. It was a great idea at the right time.

			In May of that same year, Glen Bell also filed a registration statement with the SEC for a public offering of 250,000 shares of Taco Bell stock at fourteen dollars per share in order to repay his short-term bank debt and provide the company with working capital. In addition, the anticipated sale would fund the purchase price of seven Taco Bell restaurants the company had recently acquired from franchisees.

			Was this a coincidence? Probably not. It’s likely John and Glen Bell were in close communication with one another, comparing notes about the structure and potential outcome of their deals. But while Glen Bell’s deal was handled by a large Los Angeles–based investment banking firm, Bateman Eichler, Hill Richards Inc., John’s deal was being orchestrated by a small Boston-based firm, Sterman & Gowell, Inc.
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					Der Wienerschnitzel targets teenagers with ads in an Arizona high school football schedule, 1968.

				

			The sale of a public offering involved months of legal and financial preparations, but the impact of what it could mean for the Der Wienerschnitzel brand had everyone in the company excited. On the home front, with the prospect of greater financial stability and a sizeable bank account, John indulged Myrna and his daughters—Teresa was now nine and Karen was seven—in what was quickly becoming their passion: raising and riding show horses. It was an expensive hobby that took up many hours when John was away—hours that sometimes stretched into days and weeks as he traveled to keep tabs on his growing business. It was getting harder and harder for John to spend quality time with his family. On the rare occasions he could take time off from the grinding demands of work, John proudly watched his beautiful young girls ride competitively and praised them highly for their skill and athleticism. His love and approval were all they craved, and they looked forward to every minute they could spend together as a family, every dinner he shared with them, and the little surprise gifts he brought each of them from the travels that increasingly kept him away from their beautiful hilltop home in Rolling Hills.

			As Der Wienerschnitzel continued to expand, with close to two hundred stores, John could no longer maintain the strict control he exercised when they were a mom-and-pop organization. Some franchisees didn’t have the managerial skills to make their stands profitable, no matter how much help they were receiving from the parent company by way of marketing, personnel training, and cost controls. John was forced once again to make the tough decision to close down some locations, just as he’d done in previous years when he had to shutter some of the stores owned by early investor friends of Bob Trujillo’s. John knew that survival of the fittest was par for the course in big franchises; he’d seen Glen Bell close down stores that weren’t performing up to company standards. These were tough decisions but done for the greater good of the company. John did his best to pay the franchisees back their initial investment, but inevitably some franchisees whose entire life savings were tied up in the business suffered severe financial losses. Conversely, there were stores like Ron Bryant’s in Arizona and Esther Beard’s in San Pedro and Hemet that were doing really great business.
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					Teresa on her horse in full riding regalia.
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					Karen (center) and Teresa (right) with a friend at a riding stable.
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					John and girls on a ski trip to Mammoth.

				

			Esther was Bob Trujillo’s sister and one of the earliest franchisees in California. She’d had a longtime job at an insurance agency, and her husband had worked for Atlantic Richfield. They both gave up well-paying jobs to take a chance with Der Wienerschnitzel, and for them it paid off big time. Esther describes her secret to success: “You work all the time. You don’t just take off when you want. Running a store is hard to do. I try to tell people who think they can get into a business and have somebody run it for them that it doesn’t work that way. My drive-thru didn’t have enough space for all the cars coming through, so I was crazy enough to take an order out on the street because I didn’t want to lose the customer. I’d be taking the orders outside, and one time this kid went home and said to his mother, ‘Wienerschnitzel is hiring old people now.’ She replied, ‘No, they’re not.’ He insisted, ‘Yes, there’s an older lady out there taking orders from the cars,’ and she said, ‘No, that’s Mrs. Beard, she owns the place! Nobody that didn’t own the business would work that hard.’ So, it was hard, but you can make it if you don’t mind working. We were always taught by our parents that you had to work for everything you wanted. People think you just get it without working hard, but you can’t.”
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					Franchisee Esther Beard, Bob Trujillo’s sister, in front of one of her stores.

				

			By the end of 1968, the company had a total of 218 stands and reported gross revenue of $14,655,000. The nonperforming stands had been jettisoned, and the company’s overall balance sheet—despite the $1 million in debt on the books—looked healthy and seemed positioned to meet the stringent requirements of a public offering.

			By the time the forty-page prospectus was printed and dated June 17, 1969, underwriters started to circle the number of shares of stock that they would be responsible for selling to the public. The offering asked a price of five dollars per share for a total of 500,000 shares, or $2.5 million in proceeds. As with most IPOs it was hoped the stock would sell for more than the initial offering price, which over many months of legal wheeling and dealing by expensive lawyers and accountants had been adjusted downward from the initial price of ten dollars a share.

			To John and everyone involved with the deal, it seemed like clear sailing for Der Wienerschnitzel. Now all they needed was for the SEC to bless the deal, and the underwriters could take the offering to market.
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					A dapper and confident John in his late teens.

				

			 
	
			One

			And So It Begins
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					Colorado Boulevard, Pasadena, California, late 1950s.

				

			As John Galardi took his first few steps along Pasadena’s Colorado Boulevard, the sun beamed down on him from the bright-blue, cloudless sky with the warm glow of a future that promised infinite possibilities.

			It was late February 1958 and, on this same stretch, just a few weeks earlier, townsfolk had lined the boulevard, waving American flags and cheering passionately at the sight of flower-covered floats, costumed equestrian riders, and high school marching bands. This had been the Tournament of Roses Parade, a time for celebration that was, in reality, a proud and deliberate advertisement, by Pasadena’s town fathers, for this land of paradise and sunshine.

			By the time John Galardi took these first few steps, all signs of the parade had been swept away, yet there remained something in the air, an atmosphere, that still held an aura of excitement, hope, and opportunity. Colorado Boulevard may well have been an old extension of the famed Route 66, but for John Galardi it was the beginning of a new adventure.

			The “Help Wanted” signs were few and far between as John walked with purpose down the boulevard that day. He’d only just enrolled at Pasadena City College. All he needed was part-time work, to have a few dollars in his pocket for books and college supplies and maybe a little to put away for the future—a future that was very important to this young man. He was hoping it would include marrying his college sweetheart, Myrna Hickey.
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					Myrna Hickey with Phil (L) and John Galardi (R).

				

			And of course, there was family. John would do whatever he could to contribute to his family’s income, because family was an anchor that provided stability in his rapidly changing world. Together with his father, Ross; his mother, Virginia; and younger brother, Phil, John had just made the seven-day pilgrimage from their hometown of Grandview, Missouri, a farming community in the prairie lands of the Midwest, thirty-five miles south of Kansas City, leaving behind memories of a burned-down garage, hundreds of chickens, and a hardscrabble life. Like millions before them, they’d come to California looking for a better future and relief from the extremes of hot, humid summers and freezing winters. They had bought into the vision of Pasadena’s town fathers that here were the makings of the American Dream.

			Circumstances had been different back home. In early 1950s Grandview, Missouri, everyone knew the Galardis. And in that town of only 1,556, the Galardis knew most everyone. Life in those small farming communities adhered to staunchly patriotic American values and a strong belief that “Father knows best,” although in most cases the women ultimately ruled the roost.

			Grandview’s most famous son was Harry S. Truman, the thirty-third president of the United States. Members of Truman’s family still lived in Grandview in the 1950s. The white clapboard farmhouse where he was raised by his mother, Martha, still stood as a reminder that, in America, it didn’t matter where you came from or how poor you might be, any man could be whatever he wanted to be, given half a chance. Even president of the United States.

			That same ethos drove millions of immigrants from Western and Eastern Europe and Russia to journey to America before the turn of the twentieth century. These immigrants settled in cities, towns, and small rural farming communities all over this great land—including Grandview and its neighbor, Kansas City, where the stockyards and granaries offered much-needed employment for anyone with a strong back and a willing pair of hands.

			In 1905 those intrepid arrivals included John’s grandfather, Filippo Gagliardi, who had made the long journey from Grimaldi, a town in the Calabria region of Italy, to Kansas City. Upon his arrival in the United States, Filippo promptly changed his name to Phillip. Like many new immigrants, he wanted to sound more “American,” and as a practical matter it was far easier for the immigration officials to pronounce.

			Phillip Gagliardi was a short, slender nineteen-year-old man with black hair and gray eyes who spoke practically no English. He did, however, know enough of the language to answer when asked by the immigration officials at Ellis Island, “Who are you visiting in the US?”

			“Nobody,” he shot back with a confident smile.

			In a small cardboard suitcase, Phillip carried a few worn shirts and trousers—the daily uniform of a laborer or farmer—and perhaps an Italian–English phrasebook that would enable him to ask for work, any kind of work. But his most treasured possessions were the precious photographs of the family he’d left behind in Grimaldi to start a new life in this new land.

			The following year, a nine-year old girl, Mary Bocchiccio, arrived with her two older sisters and their father, Giovanni, who would soon change his name to John Bochio. The Bochios were some of the two million Italian immigrants who came to the United States between 1900 and 1910, fleeing the deprivation of rural poverty in southern Italy.

			Being away from home made it even more imperative to seek out reliable friends and associates. So like many immigrants, the Bochios gravitated to family members or friends from the old country. Kansas City had already established itself as a bustling Little Italy, with stores that carried familiar items and an abundance of churches where their native tongue was spoken freely. This was a thriving community founded by earlier waves of Italian immigrants who heard America’s call for “your tired, your poor, your huddled masses.” It was a place these new immigrants could feel at home.

			Chief among the attractions Kansas City offered was that, for hardworking men, there were jobs at the stockyards and the Union Pacific Railroad. It was a city, unlike many others in America, where foreigners were somewhat tolerated. Both the Gagliardi and Bochio families could find their footing here in their new country. But there was also a dark underbelly to their new home.

			Kansas City was run by a corrupt political dynasty known as the Pendergast Machine. Headed by Thomas J. Pendergast, it held a stranglehold on the city, engaging in shady backroom deals and under-the-table payoffs and bolstering its power by co-opting a host of criminal elements who freely exploited the system. For more than three decades, Kansas City had gained—and lived up to—its reputation as an overly permissive city boasting every vice imaginable.

			This was the world Phillip Gagliardi and Mary Bochio became part of when they met and married in 1911. Mary was only thirteen years old. Her father, John Bochio, signed his consent on their marriage contract. He loved his daughter, but in agreeing to her marriage at such a young age, he had one less mouth to feed. And times were tough.

			Making a living for a decent, hardworking young man like Phillip Gagliardi wasn’t so straightforward. This was a town where political (and criminal) affiliations trumped playing by the rules. But Phillip hadn’t come to America to game the system. Phillip was a man who played it straight in a town where there were practically no rules. So with his limited English, he struggled constantly to find steady work, while Mary did her best on his meager income to raise their two young boys, Vincent and Johnny.
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					Kansas City Orphan Boys Home.

				

			Then in 1919 a third son, Ross, was born. Sadly, this wasn’t the joyous occasion many other families might cherish. No one celebrated his arrival; another baby meant stretching the family’s limited resources even further. Phillip and Mary were overwhelmed by the painful reality that they couldn’t afford to feed and clothe their three boys. It was a time of utter despair, as the poverty they had left behind in Italy seemed to have followed them to America.

			As their desperation grew, Mary and Phillip made the difficult decision to separate. They placed the two older boys—Vincent, age eight, and Johnny, age six—in the Kansas City Orphan Boys Home where Phillip worked as a janitor. Vincent and Johnny became Phillip’s responsibility, and Mary was left to raise Ross, a one-year-old toddler, on her own.

			The well-meaning nuns who ran the orphanage assured Phillip and Mary that they were doing what was best for the boys, but the heartbreak of that decision would embitter Mary. For a woman who cherished family as the center of her world, this was a decision that would haunt her for the rest of her days.

			Across town, in a very different part of Kansas City, Hattie and Robert Lee Caudell, a Scot-Irish couple whose history in the United States went back five generations, were welcoming their second child into the world, a beautiful dark-haired baby girl with pale skin and rosebud lips. They named her Virginia.

			The Caudells doted on their little girl, and Virginia grew up surrounded by a loving family, including an older brother, Robert, and a younger sister, Mitzi. When Virginia was seven, her father was hit by a train while working for the Union Pacific Railroad. Hattie struggled to raise her three children as a single mother and a seamstress.

			Although Ross Gagliardi and Virginia Caudell started out their lives coming from different backgrounds, somehow their paths crossed, and they fell in love. The year was 1936, and America was still in the midst of the Great Depression. Ross, at the age of sixteen, had only a sixth-grade education and no training or skills to help him find work. Virginia was also sixteen, but like young lovers everywhere, they blindly believed that together they could overcome whatever obstacles lay before them.
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					John’s favorite portrait of his beloved mother, Virginia Galardi.

				

			On September 28, 1936, the young couple drove the short distance to Olathe, Kansas, where sixteen was the legal age for marriage. Without fanfare, Virginia and Ross sealed their love and were wed in a civil ceremony. Ross decided to Americanize the family surname: they were now Mr. and Mrs. Ross Galardi.

			The following June, Virginia learned she was pregnant, and on March 4, 1938, she gave birth to a beautiful boy. They named him John Norman Galardi. A year later, in 1939, a second son, Phillip (named after Ross’s grandfather), arrived.

			The lasting effects of the Great Depression meant that work was still hard to come by, so to support his family, Ross took whatever employment he could find. In the 1939 census he listed various occupations, including box maker, attendant, and appliance salesman. Ross had never forgotten the difficult decision his parents had been forced to make when they placed his two brothers in an orphanage, and he was determined never to let anything like that happen to his family.

			He seized at the limited opportunities that came his way, and he undertook any job with deep pride in his work. Ross Galardi truly believed that if he and Virginia could just hold on in the face of adversity, eventually things would turn out okay. That was, after all, the American Dream. And it was the Galardi Dream. They had to believe that hard work and optimism always led to opportunity.
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					Baptism photo of John Galardi, 1938.

				

			Meanwhile, in Kansas City, change came more swiftly than anyone could imagine. Criminal boss Tom Pendergast’s crooked dealings, his open alliance with hardened criminals, and his cynical subversion of the democratic process finally caught up with him. In 1939, Pendergast was convicted of tax evasion and imprisoned for fifteen months, effectively ending the stranglehold of corruption that had gripped the city for almost forty years.

			Then in 1941, as the country was still struggling under the lean years of the Great Depression, World War II broke out. The Galardi family made a decision familiar to many families at the time: much against Virginia’s wishes, Ross enlisted in the US Navy. Like so many young men of his generation, he felt the tug of patriotism. Ross was assigned to serve on the USS Neshanic, an oil tanker charged with servicing battleships in the Hawaiian Islands and the Far East.

			Ross knew that once he entered the military to carry out his patriotic duty, the family’s finances would change dramatically for the worse. So Virginia and their two young boys, John and Phil, moved in with Ross’s mother, Mary, in her cramped one-bedroom apartment in Kansas City. It wasn’t a good solution, but it’s all they could do. Grandma Mary doted on the boys but never really warmed to Virginia. In her world Ross was destined to marry a “good Italian girl.” Virginia knew that no matter how hard she tried, her mother-in-law would never truly accept her. In an effort to find respite and support, Virginia often met with her girlfriends to drink coffee and listen to big band music on the radio while the boys were in school.

			Along with the daily struggle just to put food on the table, Ross’s family experienced constant fear for his safety in a war thousands of miles away. They listened intently to every news report in the hope that it might reveal some morsel about Ross’s well-being. Virginia’s nerves were frayed, and Mary broke down in tears each time another Gold Star flag went up in a neighbor’s window, signifying the death of a serviceman.
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					Virginia Galardi with her sons, John (L) and Phil (R), mid-1940s.

				

			At the tender age of five, John Galardi was already keenly aware of his mother’s desperation. With a concern beyond his years, he asked her one day, “Mommy, how are we going to pay the rent?” Those troubling times would leave a permanent mark. In some part of his psyche, there always lingered the frightened child, still wondering, “How are we going to pay the rent?”

			The one bright spot in their lives came thanks to Virginia’s younger sister, Mitzi, and her husband. Mitzi had married an Italian businessman, Russell Pisciotta, whose family owned a thriving produce business in Kansas City’s Little Italy. In the local Italian community, dons and their children and grandchildren often all lived within the same block and controlled individual neighborhoods. Just like Boss Pendergast, they delivered favors to their family and friends in the form of business opportunities. The Pisciotta family made sure all their relatives were well taken care of: every Monday, on Russell’s instruction, a box of fresh food was delivered to Virginia, Mary, and the boys. Even as adults, John and Phil fondly remembered those boxes left at Grandma Mary’s doorstep. It meant that that night they wouldn’t go hungry, or have to eat cereal—sometimes the only food in the cupboard—for supper.

			Aunt Mitzi and Uncle Russell had a son, also named Phil, who was close in age to John. The two boys were more than cousins; they were best friends, and would remain so the rest of their lives. But as much as John loved the Pisciottas, and was always grateful for their generosity, he couldn’t help feeling envious. They seemed to have such a great life. They could afford nice clothes, new cars, and vacations. And when all the Pisciottas got together, they presented a big happy family that included four successful brothers and their beautiful wives. It was no surprise that, next to them, John always felt the stigma of being the poor cousin.
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					Uncle Russell Pisciotta’s produce truck.

				

			John and his brother, Phil, were still too young to understand why their father had left home to go to war. They felt abandoned, and in their minds, everything they and their mother were suffering was because of their father’s absence. John had developed a deep attachment to his mother, and vowed that when he grew up, he would take care of everyone in his family so that no one he loved would ever have to face poverty and that same terrible feeling of abandonment. It may have been a child’s way of coping with life’s difficulties, but that vow motivated John Galardi for the rest of his life.

			On June 18, 1944, Ross’s ship, the Neshanic, came under severe Japanese air attack when a one-hundred-pound bomb scored a direct hit on the cargo deck and caused serious injury to thirty-three midshipmen. Fortunately, Ross was not one of them. He went on to survive the war without a scratch. When the war in the Pacific ended in September 1945, Ross was honorably discharged from the navy.

			For Ross, as with so many enlisted men, his time in the military had broadened his view of the world. When his ship finally docked in San Pedro Harbor, just south of Los Angeles, Ross had a few days to catch a glimpse of Southern California before he hopped on a train back to Kansas City, Missouri. It was enough time for him to realize the world of difference between California and hometown Missouri. It planted a crazy thought in his mind: maybe one day he, Virginia, and the boys could live there, on this sunlit coast with its gleaming, golden shores and promise of future prosperity.
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					Brothers Phil (L) and John Galardi (R).

				

			When Ross returned to Kansas City, his family was overjoyed. However, it wasn’t long before he saw things at home were in turmoil. The tension between his wife and his mother had become intolerable, and as a result of living with their grandmother, seven-year-old John and six-year-old Phil were speaking only Italian at home. Ross was furious: “My boys are Americans, and they will speak English!” He quickly moved with Virginia and the boys into their own apartment about fifteen miles south of Kansas City in the little farming community of Grandview, Missouri. Ross insisted, from that moment on, that his sons only speak English. Within a few months they’d forgotten all the Italian they’d learned from their time with their grandmother.

			With Ross’s return, things seemed to settle down. The boys were happy to have their father back home, and the move away from her mother-in-law was a blessing to Virginia. Compared to Grandma Mary’s Kansas City apartment, Grandview was literally a breath of fresh air. In the wide-open prairie land of Grandview, John and Phil experienced the kind of freedom that allowed them to explore the world in a safe and loving environment. At school John and Phil made friends easily. They were good-looking young boys with sunny personalities who had no trouble fitting in. In the winter, when snow covered the ground, the boys enjoyed sledding, snowball fights, and all kinds of winter fun. John even joined a Boy Scout troop where he developed a real love of the outdoors, but more importantly, a respect for the values of good citizenship.

			With the war finally over, America returned to a peacetime economy. The massive iron and steel industries now contributed to building automobiles, and many goods that had been in scarce supply during the war were now available to the population at large. Couples who had been separated by the war were reunited, which resulted in an unprecedented population explosion, and with that, a housing boom.

			Soon the Galardis had saved up enough to move out of their Grandview apartment into a small farmhouse. Virginia took to farm life, and enthusiastically grew a vegetable garden and raised chickens. In a short time, they had over a thousand chickens, and John and Phil had the unenviable task of tending them. Every morning the boys would gather the eggs, which Virginia would check, holding each one up to a bright light to see if they were clear or cloudy inside. Clear meant they were good to sell as fresh eggs to their neighbors; cloudy was a sign the embryo was already developing, so it went into the incubator where it would soon hatch and join the already burgeoning chicken population.
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					Cousins Phil Pisciotta (L) and John Galardi (R), friends for life.

				

			Their egg business helped bring in much-needed income, but the boys saw little value in all the cleaning and feeding they had to do as part of their daily chores. This was a pivotal time in the boys’ outlook, and the unpleasant, acrid smell of urine in the henhouse would stay with John and Phil for the rest of their lives.

			Around the age of eleven, John began to show signs of the self-discipline that would become one of his main personality traits. When he exhibited an interest in learning to play the accordion, his parents were delighted, especially Virginia, who was musically talented and played the organ. She found him an instrument and a teacher, and John embraced it with a passion. His teacher noticed such incredible progress that he asked Virginia, “How often does John practice?” When Virginia told him, “About six hours a day,” the teacher was stunned. He praised John’s commitment and encouraged Virginia to consider music as a possible career for her son.

			Around that time, in 1949, the great Italian American accordionist Dick Contino had achieved overnight fame when he won first place on the Horace Heidt talent show, broadcast on national radio. Contino’s recording of “Lady of Spain” was at the top of the charts, and he quickly became a national celebrity—and of course a hero to the Italian community. John Galardi’s musical prowess had already been recognized by his teacher, and Virginia was so proud of him that she dared to dream he might see the same success as Dick Contino.

			With savings from her egg business, Virginia took John into a recording studio and cut a record of two tunes he had mastered, “Cielito Lindo” and her favorite, “The Third Man Theme,” which she loved to play on the organ. But to his mother’s disappointment, almost as quickly as John had taken to the accordion, he dropped it for his newfound passion, baseball. Virginia realized her son was at an age of exploration. He’d tried music, and even though he was very good at it, in his heart John had already moved on, and there was no arguing with him. For better or worse, this trait of John’s—the ability to refocus with a passion (and sometimes to the frustration of others)—was to stick with him for the rest of his life. The framed records remain the only memento of what might have been.

			John was a gifted athlete, too, with great balance and coordination, and once he found his way into sports, he displayed the same dedication and focus he’d brought to his brief musical career. He’d enlist his brother to help him practice batting and pitching, and night after night the two boys would stay out in the field until well after dark, with John repeating over and over whatever motion he was trying to perfect until he got it down.

				
					[image: ]
					John in his high school baseball uniform.

				

			Then he discovered basketball.

			Ever supportive, Ross rigged up a makeshift hoop in the driveway, and with Phil by his side, John shot baskets so late into the night they had to turn on the car lights to see the ball and hoop. It became pretty obvious to his parents and teachers that whatever young John Galardi put his mind to, he had the self-discipline and determination to see it through to the end and do it to the very best of his ability.

			As the boys matured, Ross and Virginia instilled in them the truism that life was by no means all fun and games. There were no free rides, and they were expected to carry their share of the family burden. By the time John was thirteen, he had a job as a soda jerk at the King Crème Ice Cream Parlor in Grandview. It was a job that suited his personality. He liked working with people, and he loved the extra tips he earned by being efficient and personable and making the customer feel special. This was his first contact with the food-service industry, but it would certainly not be his last.

			Life had improved considerably for John’s father. He found steady work as a repairman for an appliance company. He was a good worker, dependable and pleasant to be around, and the owners of the company appreciated his work ethic and easy-going manner.
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					Phil and John in their Sunday best.
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					John taking off on his sled.

				

			However, it came as a complete surprise to Ross when one day they offered him a managerial position. The new job would have given Ross a substantial pay raise and prestige, but Ross never wanted to work in the confines of an office. He liked going out to people’s homes to fix their appliances and enjoyed the feeling of satisfaction he got when they appreciated his work. He didn’t think he had it in him to sit in an office all day overseeing other people and “pushing papers,” so he turned the offer down.

			John was shocked that his father didn’t jump at the chance to take the promotion. He saw Ross’s failure to seize an opportunity for advancement as a sign that his father would never achieve anything of importance, and his lack of ambition would doom their family to a life of hard work and small rewards. John had seen the leisurely lifestyle that the Pisciottas enjoyed, and he desperately wanted his mother to have that kind of life too. Again, he promised himself that one day he would give his mother everything she’d ever dreamed of.

			During the summers Uncle Russ hired John and Phil to work with him in his produce business. It was a great opportunity to see how a successful businessman operated, and John was like a sponge, soaking up every bit of knowledge he could. He never hesitated to ask Uncle Russ why he did things a certain way, or why he chose one product over another. Russell generously answered all John’s questions. He could see that his nephew was bright and ambitious, and he encouraged John’s interest in business.

			Business aside, John also admired how Russell presented himself, dressed meticulously in beautiful handmade suits and silk ties. And he envied how his uncle and Aunt Mitzi moved comfortably in the upper-class circles of Kansas City society. Everywhere Russell went, he was known and admired. It was no surprise he quickly became John’s role model.

			While Ross Galardi may not have been as flamboyant or a risk-taker, to his credit, he was prudent. Saving his money wisely, he eventually gained some economic traction. By the time John was fifteen, Ross was the proud owner of a full-service gas station on the two-lane highway from Grandview to Kansas City. Ross enlisted the boys to help out after school. They sold tires, washed cars, and did lube and oil changes and minor repairs. On weekends John and Phil would often be left to run the station while Ross and Virginia enjoyed well-earned days off.
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					A proud dad, Ross Galardi, with his older son, John.

				

			Ross trusted the boys completely, so he thought nothing of it when one Sunday, as he and Virginia drove in from Kansas City, one of his neighbors shouted as they passed him: “Hey, Ross, I think you better get over to the station! I hear your boys got a little problem.” Ross smiled, nodded, and drove on. But as he pulled into the main street of Grandview, he heard a group of concerned locals shouting about the service station. He realized it was serious. Ross rushed to the station as fast as he could, dreading what he would find. Virginia held her breath and tried not to think of what might have happened to her boys.

			That Sunday morning had been unremarkable for John and Phil. It was the usual “fill ’er up” and “check the oil.” Then later in the day, two young customers pulled up in their sleek sedans. John and Phil knew the two young men and admired their cars—one a blue Hudson Hornet and the other a dark-red Pontiac Chieftain, both of which had been customized and souped up.

			One customer wanted a simple wash, and the other a lube and oil change. John assured them he and Phil could take care of everything. After stressing that the boys treat their cars with extreme care, the two young men went off to a nearby café to grab a cup of coffee while John and Phil took care of their “cherry rides.”
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					Cousin Phil Pisciotta’s graduation from military academy, (L-R) Virginia Galardi; the graduate; his father and mother, Russ and Mitzi; and John.

				

			The boys pulled the cars into the two work ports of the barnlike garage. John lowered the large rolling door on his side and got to work on the Hudson with a bucket of soapy water and sponges. John loved working on beautiful cars, so he paid meticulous attention to the details of polishing the chrome and scrubbing the whitewall tires until they shone like new. It was a passion that would be reflected in a simple tenet that extended to everything in life: “If you borrow someone’s car, return it cleaner and in better condition than when you borrowed it.”

			While John was focused on cleaning the Hudson, Phil was hooking the Pontiac up to a hoist for the lube job. He unspooled a cable and attached a large hook to the axle. As soon as he pushed the start button on the lift, he heard a worrying ping. To their horror the hook had slipped off the axle and flown backward, puncturing the gas tank. Immediately gas began gushing onto the floor. 

			“John!” Phil shouted in alarm. “The gas is spilling out. What should I do?” 

			“Grab a broom and sweep it into the corner,” John said calmly. It made sense; a floor drain was there. So Phil followed his brother’s instructions. The only problem was there was also a hot-water heater in the corner.

			Boom!

			When the gas caught fire, Phil raced out of the garage in panic, but John stayed inside the second port behind the metal rolling door. Phil pounded on the door and shouted, searching frantically for a sign of his brother. Then, as the black smoke billowed from the burning structure, the second door rolled up, and John walked out unscathed. Seconds later the entire garage exploded. The tires that lined the back wall flew forty feet out into the field behind the garage. Both sedans were melted into skeletons of hot steel, and the garage was completely destroyed. Relieved that they had survived, the brothers now steeled themselves for their father’s reaction.

			When Ross and Virginia arrived, the worst was over, and the place was a disaster area. Firemen had begun the cleanup, and the crowd of neighbors who had gathered began to thin out. Only the shell of what had once been Ross’s thriving business was left standing. Ross and Virginia embraced their boys with great relief. Ross assured them that the station could be rebuilt, and the two cars could be replaced, but what could not be replaced were his sons. He didn’t chastise them or try to place blame. Ross’s only concern was for the safety of his boys. True to his Italian heritage, la famiglia was more important than anything else. This was another lesson John never forgot. And as for Phil, he was forever grateful that his older brother managed to get out alive. If anything had happened to John, he would never have forgiven himself.
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					John’s high school graduation photo.

				

			 
	
			Two

			California Dreaming
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			The 1950s were ignited by breakthroughs. America was changing rapidly, and the advancements were invigorating for all. Black-and-white television was broadcast in the family rooms of most homes. The credit card and the microchip became an inexorable part of the changing culture. A polio vaccine was finally created, by Dr. Jonas Salk, which would in turn save millions of children’s lives. But perhaps one of the biggest and most important shifts in the collective psyche was the commencement of the Civil Rights Movement. The US Supreme Court ruled that racial segregation in public schools was unconstitutional. This was a huge step forward for the country.

			Internationally, Soviet-backed North Korea invaded South Korea, which sparked America’s involvement in a three-year war. Five million perished, and more than one hundred thousand were wounded, which further fueled the Cold War.

			Though John’s breakthroughs weren’t on such a global scale (yet), he had momentum nonetheless. The first time John Galardi donned his Grandview Bulldogs basketball uniform, he knew that his devotion to the game had been worth every minute of the effort he put in through the years. His skills were admired by both his peers and coaches. “Give the ball to Galardi” was a common phrase heard being yelled in the auditorium. It never got old for his family, who cheered him on at every game.
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					John’s high school basketball team. John is seated in front row, second from left.

				

			Though he was getting rave reviews for his work on the court, his work in the classroom left much to be desired. He was an extremely intelligent boy, but he had other things on his mind. Let’s just say his C average in school didn’t line up with the grades he was getting from girls. He reached heartthrob status by age sixteen. He was sharp, street-smart, and witty. Now that he was old enough to drive, he and Phil could often be seen riding around Grandview with a car full of pretty girls. It also wasn’t long before their cousin, Phil Pisciotta, joined the magnetic duo. They were like the Three Musketeers, daring and fun loving. They were also eager to push the boundaries and explore life no matter where their choices led. Quite literally, these choices once led them 250 miles away when they took an impromptu road trip to St. Louis. To this day no one knows how they convinced their parents to let them go, but go they did. 
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					(L-R) Phil Galardi, unidentified friend, and John leaning against a “cherry ride.”

				

			On a late summer morning in 1956, they filled the gas tank of John’s Ford Fairlane and drove straight east across Missouri on I-70, heading for the Mississippi River. The boys were itching to hit the main attraction on the river. The SS Admiral, an excursion steamboat operating out of the port of St. Louis, was a far cry from the Victorian paddlewheels the Big Muddy was known for. It was a sleek and modern ship, longer than a whole city block. In the summer, the Admiral would cruise up and down the Mississippi, offering passengers tranquil views and wholesome fun for the whole family. The bottom deck was an arcade devoted to entertaining young people, while the two upper decks were more for the grown-ups. You could dance to a live big band in the elegant ballroom or enjoy dinner and drinks in the posh restaurant.

			The possibilities were endless. And the possibilities in the boys’ minds all pointed in the direction of pretty, rich girls. Of course, their mental pictures of a good time distracted them from the reality that they were broke and couldn’t even afford tickets to get on the ship. Undaunted by their light pockets, they did what any enterprising young boys might do: they snuck on board. After scoping the scene—without getting nabbed—they decided it was time to join in the fun (“fun” meaning drinking). It was a simple plan, as it often is. They would stroll through the dining area looking for abandoned drinks that still had liquor in them. They’d walk by, grab a quick sip, and move on. They were a crafty bunch.

			The boys never did find those beautiful, wealthy girls, but by the end of the evening, they had their fair share of “fun.” They found so many abandoned drinks that little brother Phil had to be carried off the ship by the other two musketeers. Unable to drive, they pooled what little money they had, rented a cheap hotel room, and spent the night praying to the porcelain God. All in all, they agreed it was the best time they’d ever had together. Family and fun. That was, after all, the answer to everything.

			After that joyride of a summer, John entered his senior year of high school. This is when he recognized that he needed to make some changes. He had to get serious about his future. He was confident of his love for basketball, so that was where he set his sights. He was encouraged to apply for basketball scholarships by his counselor, but John was also a realist. He assessed his chances and had to admit that a five foot ten point guard from Grandview High with a C average was probably not going to be at the top of any major recruiter’s prospect list. 
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					John’s freshman class photo, 1957.

				

			So when he received an offer of an athletic scholarship to a small two-year Baptist college, he jumped at the chance to be able to continue doing something he loved. John would be the first person in his family to attend college, which was an enormous triumph. Ross and Virginia couldn’t have been prouder, though Virginia knew that his absence would be tough and that the Galardi family life would be a little duller without John around. John was also preparing for that change and for leaving his childhood behind. 

			A teenager’s high school graduation is marked by all sorts of traditions. Usually one of the most memorable is receiving the coveted yearbook. Those memories last forever. As you can imagine, there was barely any empty space in John’s. Many of the handwritten comments were filled with predictions that he would do extremely well in life, and there were, of course, frequent mentions of how good-looking he was. In one extended message two obviously smitten young ladies jokingly chided him: “If you were as big and handsome and smart as you think you are, you would be sitting on top of the world.” It would be just a few short years before those prophetic words, from a couple of seventeen-year-old admirers, would come true.
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					Cover of the 1957 Mozarkian, the Southwest Baptist College yearbook.

				

			The praise didn’t stop at John’s friends. Many of his teachers were aware that, along with his gifts, John had an unshakeable faith in himself. Sandwiched between all the typical yearbook flattery, one friend offered this gentle homily:

			Dear John,

			“Four things a man must learn to do

			If he would make his record true

			To think without confusion clearly

			To love his fellow man sincerely

			To act from honest motives purely

			To trust in God and Heaven securely.”

			It’s safe to say that at the time, John most likely skimmed over the biblical message, since he wasn’t religious or into poetry. It seems probable that the last line fell with a thud on the deaf ears of a nonchurchgoer. But the simple words of the homily turned out to be an internal mantra that he would follow. For the most part, that was exactly how John Galardi lived his life, and when he left for college, it was no different.

			Southwest Baptist was a two-year junior college in the little town of Bolivar, Missouri, about 135 miles south of Grandview. It may have been one of the smallest junior colleges around, but their basketball team was an elite program led by Coach Chester Elmore, who actively recruited players, some from deep in the Ozark Mountains. The other recruits and John shared a likeness in the way they grew up. Like John, many of them were athletically gifted farm boys who had put up a homemade hoop in the backyard and practiced between chores. One of these fellow players had never even owned a real pair of good leather shoes before coming to Southwest Baptist. John admired these boys; they were kindred spirits, self-motivated, aggressive, and determined to win. As a freshman John helped lead the team to fourth place in the National Junior College Championships. With only four hundred students at the school, that was pretty impressive. 
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					Stately building on the campus of Southwest Baptist College.

				

			He was content and fulfilled playing basketball, but those feelings didn’t trickle over into academics again, unfortunately. You may even say he was a bit of a rebel in terms of his scholastics. He also mightily resisted the religious aspects of the school. John Galardi had a tenuous relationship with religion. Born into a family of nonpracticing Catholics, he was essentially a free agent. In high school he became a Methodist, because his best friends wanted him to join them on their church field trips. Then, when he was recruited by Southwest Baptist College, he became a Baptist. It was clear freshman year that basketball was the only thing at Southwest Baptist College John was interested in—until his focus shifted.
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					John wearing #30 on the Southwest Baptist College basketball team.

				

			It shifted to a girl, as it does in any great story. Her name was Myrna Hickey. Introverted and a straight-A student, she was a vision—petite with flawless skin, soft green eyes, and a chiseled beauty that belied the reality of the harsh life she had grown up with in the Ozark Mountains. Myrna was one of six children from a family that barely scraped by working on the land for many generations in Iberia, Missouri (population 565). It was such a small town it could barely be found on a map, and few residents ever moved away. By contrast, Myrna’s family prized education. This core family value drove Myrna and her siblings to travel beyond their hometown to pursue higher education, with several of her brothers and sisters going on to obtain advanced degrees.

			John and Myrna were both dating other people when they first ran into each other around campus. A casual hello was the extent of their relationship—until one day at the school library. Myrna, buried in a pile of books, was studiously copying information into her notebook. At another table, the antithesis of that vision, John sat with a closed book in his hand, gazing at Myrna. The only thing he was reading was her. He was taken. John waited until the library was closing and watched Myrna gather up the pile of books. As she was struggling to keep from dropping them, John swooped in to save her with a disarming grin. 
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					Myrna Hickey’s portrait as Southwest Baptist College Basketball Queen, 1958.

				

			“I’m John Galardi, I don’t think we’ve met.” 

			She dropped her eyes shyly. “I’m Myrna Hickey.” 

			That’s how it all began.

			It didn’t take long before the two were a well-known couple on campus. Myrna was John’s biggest cheerleader, attending every one of his basketball games. So it seemed only natural that she ended up being chosen as the Homecoming Basketball Queen. John was taken aback by her beauty as he watched her coronation. That moment solidified his love and his intention to make a life with Myrna. He was in love with that girl from the Ozarks and wanted everyone to know it. He made the big leap of bringing Myrna home to Grandview to meet his parents. Ross and Virginia were as taken with Myrna as John was. At the end of the semester, Myrna returned the invitation and asked John to Iberia to meet her family.

			On the winding and exhausting trip through the Ozarks, John finally understood why it’s referred to as the backwoods country. The entire town of Iberia was nothing more than a two-block stretch along Highway 17. It had a Congregational church, a few small stores, an auto-repair shop, and a redbrick post office. That was about the extent of it. As John described it, “You can drive from one end of town to the other in less than a minute without exceeding the speed limit.” Until he arrived in Iberia, he’d thought Grandview was a small town.

			John had no idea which house was Myrna’s. He figured the best thing to do would be to ask someone at the post office. He approached an elderly man behind the counter sorting mail. When John asked if he knew where he could find the Hickey residence, the man looked up at him and smiled. 

			“You must be John.” 

			John smiled back widely and thought to himself, Yes, this is a small town!

			John finally found the simple wooden house that he’d been searching for. Myrna’s family had all gathered to meet the young man. His intentions with Myrna were clear, considering he made such a trek to meet them. With his winning ways, John, of course, charmed the pants off everyone. The trip was an amazing one, filled with family fun and bonding. For John, the outstanding memory of the trip was the outdoor bath he took in a galvanized tub, which was filled by the bucketful with hot water from the stove. The tub sat right outside a kitchen window, where all the women had an easy view of John’s vain attempts at modesty. By the end of the trip, John was part of the family, and Myrna’s mother was already thinking about the wedding dress she would make for her daughter for the big day.

			The following semester Phil joined John at Southwest Baptist College as a freshman. Once the Galardi boys were together again, they couldn’t help but revert to their former hijinks. It was like no time had passed at all. It turned out Phil was even less of a student than John, and together they refused to adhere to the strict rules about male and female contact. The boys gained a reputation as troublemakers—they smoked behind buildings and fell asleep in church services, sometimes snoring audibly. It didn’t help the brothers’ cause that most of the other basketball players were drawn to mischief as well. They were all there for one real reason, and that was their love of basketball. The team had become a clique of outsiders who entertained themselves endlessly. Harmless pranks were a go-to for the bunch. A rather infamous story involved dropping a small homemade bomb into a toilet (we can leave the rest to the imagination with that one). 

			Though John and his friends were causing a bit of a stir on campus, back home in Grandview a more literal kind of storm was brewing. 1957 was proving to be one of the most dangerous years on record for tornadoes in the Midwest. In Missouri, fifty-seven tornadoes were registered during a three-day period in May. It was an intense and stressful time. During that tumultuous weather system, on May 19 in Kansas City, Uncle Russell Pisciotta fell ill. He called Mitzi from a golf course complaining that he wasn’t feeling well. Shortly after he hung up with her, he climbed into his car to head home. He unfortunately never made it back to Mitzi and died after suffering a heart attack. He was only thirty-nine years old. It was a major loss for the entire family. For John, it was devastating to lose someone he had looked up to and loved, and who had taught him so much.
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					Portrait of John’s father, Ross Galardi.

				

			The following day, May 20, a Category 5 tornado struck Grandview. It wreaked havoc on the tiny town and even took off a sizeable portion of the Galardi house. It also completely devastated the nearby neighborhood of Ruskin Heights, killing fifty-nine, including four of the Galardi’s neighbors. Those two days in the Galardi family history weighed heavily on the minds of its members. Unfortunately, they left more than a mark. Things didn’t get any better after that. Rumor had it that the Pisciotta family wanted Russell’s share of the produce company back after his premature death. They supposedly made a financial arrangement with Mitzi and suggested that she and her two children leave Kansas City and start a new life somewhere else. Mitzi chose California. So within a few months of Russell’s death, Mitzi packed up her son, Phil, and her daughter, Marylou, and moved to California. 

			Virginia was stunned by Russell’s death, but her sister’s moving far away was even more difficult. With both her boys away at college, Virginia was hit particularly hard by her sister’s abrupt departure. She fell into a deep depression. Ross knew he had to do something. Almost fifteen years after the war, he still held on to a ray of hope that one day he would take his family out west. With the love of his life feeling so empty and the boys at college, he devised a plan that would be the cure for all these issues and more. There was a big change ahead for all.

			By December 1958 Southwest Baptist was done with the Galardi boys. Halfway through John’s second year, the dean called the brothers into his office. After citing their behavior as “too wild” for the straightlaced lifestyle of Southwest Baptist, he informed them that they were not to return after the holidays. In other words, they were expelled. It looked like the boys were about to unknowingly fill in one of the holes in their mother’s heart.

			Though both boys shrugged off the news, since they didn’t really like the school, deep down Phil had a sense of guilt about John losing his basketball scholarship. He knew how much it meant to him and to their parents. John had other pressing concerns on his mind, though. He and Myrna were planning to be married right after graduation. Myrna had just been named valedictorian, and it was of utmost importance to her that she earn her degree. John’s sudden expulsion meant the couple would be separated for almost six months, but John agreed that he would go back to Grandview and wait for her to finish college.

			During this time, John did some deep soul searching. He had done this before, but he now knew it was finally time to seriously consider his future. He tried to imagine what his life could be like if it didn’t revolve around basketball. He knew he had good leadership qualities and a good instinct for knowing how to analyze situations, since he’d had a natural ability to encourage his teammates to do their best. Maybe what he was really cut out for was to be a coach. Why not? He was a true motivator, and it was something he enjoyed doing. John considered what a career as a high school basketball coach might look like, and he could see that it offered a way for him to stay close to the game he loved and make a decent living.

			All in all, it seemed like a pretty good plan, so the night before leaving college, John discussed the idea with Myrna. He wanted to reassure her that being expelled from college was simply a minor glitch, and that he was going to make sure they had a great life together and that he would always take care of her. As soon as John finished his speech, Myrna fixed him with a steady gaze. “John, whatever you want to do in life, you will always have my complete support,” she said. Myrna’s words erased all John’s worry. Maybe he didn’t know exactly how he was going to get where he wanted to go, but come hell or high water, with Myrna by his side, he knew he was going to get there. The couple made a promise to see each other every weekend despite the hundred miles between them.
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					John and Phil posing with a Ford, looking “too cool for school.”

				

			On the bus ride home, John and Phil barely spoke, each of them trying to figure out how they were going to break the news to their father. Two days after their expulsion, the boys stood in the living room with their parents. Their heads were hung low, and their hands fidgeted in their pockets. Talking over each other, they stumbled their way through the dreaded story. Virginia listened in stunned silence. Ross nodded slowly before he finally spoke. “You know, we’ve got nothing to keep us in Grandview. Why don’t we all go to California?” It took a few minutes for it to sink in that Ross was serious, but the more they talked about it, the more exciting it sounded. This wasn’t the reaction the boys were expecting. To say they were surprised would be an understatement.

			This was fantastic news for Virginia. She and Mitzi would be together again. For John and Phil, the family’s move meant they wouldn’t have to face embarrassing questions from all their old friends about why they were no longer in college. The only unanswered question in John’s mind was how Myrna would take the news. This wasn’t going to be the short hop from Southwest Baptist to Grandview that she and John had just promised to make each weekend. This was over fifteen hundred miles away, and most likely they wouldn’t see each other until after Myrna’s graduation.

			Virginia encouraged John to rip off the proverbial Band-Aid and call Myrna to fill her in on the plan. Virginia had become fond of her future daughter-in-law and was sure she would jump at the chance to go on an adventure to California. John planned his words carefully. When he picked up the telephone to call her, his nerves set in. His entire future was on the line. Myrna listened without interrupting as John laid out the details of his plan; he would find a job and save up enough money to send her a train ticket, and they would be married in California. There was a long silence on the other end before Myrna spoke. “John, I don’t know if I ever told you this, but I have always dreamed of going to California.”
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					The golden shores of the Pacific, Santa Monica, California.

				

			After selling the house, on Valentine’s Day 1958 the Galardis headed west with whatever belongings they had been able to pack. They would have left a day sooner had a sudden snowstorm not stopped them in their tracks. It was a last-minute omen that leaving Missouri and heading to sunnier parts was what they were destined to do. They took a southerly route along I-40. In Tucson, Arizona, they stayed at a motel where it was warm enough in February for the boys to swim in the pool. What a welcome change. Summer in winter! It was also the closest thing they had ever come to having a family vacation. 

			Three days after they left Grandview, they were on a pier in Santa Monica, California, overlooking the ocean. Mitzi and their cousins, Phil and Marylou, joined them. They marveled at the people in bathing suits relaxing on the white-sand beach and swimming in the blue water. It wasn’t just a dream or Hollywood movie. It was the start of their new life.
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					Builder Macy Coffin completes the first A-frame on time and on budget.

				

			 
	
			Four

			Cha-Ching
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					Hungry customers line up at the unique drive-thru Der Wienerschnitzel.

				

			1961 was an aspirational year for the entire country. It started with the inauguration of the young and dynamic John F. Kennedy, which filled Americans with hope. In May, astronaut Alan Shepard blasted off into space in the Freedom 7. From liftoff to reentry, the entire mission lasted just fifteen and a half minutes, but it further galvanized the country and set the United States on a course to win the space race against the Soviets. Kennedy pledged that we would have a man on the moon before the end of the decade. The country was running on high. Young Americans were dreaming big, right along with their young president. His movie-star good looks and display of World War II heroism made him an inspiration to young men. John caught the fever of optimism that the president was spreading and ran with it.

			On July 3, 1961, the day before Der Wienerschnitzel opened its doors, John worked through the night. He reluctantly left the store after obsessing over every detail just before the dawn’s early light broke through the darkness. All the kitchen equipment was tested; the counters, floors, and every inch of the store were thoroughly cleaned; the supplies and paper goods were organized; and the hot dogs, buns, mustard, and sauerkraut were all ready to go. The only task left was to cook the chili, the “special sauce.” He decided to leave it until morning so that it would have that freshly made taste. After an internal debate about leaving, he managed to get home with barely enough time to grab a quick nap, take a shower, and head back for the big day.
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					The first Der Wienerschnitzel store, Wilmington, California, 1961. The start of something big.

				

			John came home to find Myrna and Teresa nestled together, and when he left before six a.m., they were still sleeping. As he drove through the empty streets of Wilmington, the rising sun rimmed the gray morning clouds in pink and gold. John took it as a good omen, which was just what he needed. For days he’d tortured himself with one disastrous scenario after another: he would come back to find the store had been broken into, spray-painted with graffiti, or burned down, or maybe he’d find that it never even existed. Ever since he was a child, John’s mind had played dark tricks on him, as if impending doom were only a heartbeat away. It often seemed to him that his relentless drive and ambition were fueled by an effort to outrun some terrifying demon.

			Turning the corner onto North Gulf Avenue, John could see his precious building, with the big “Der Wienerschnitzel” sign, standing just as he had left it. He breathed a sigh of relief and even chuckled at himself for his obsessive thoughts. Getting into character, he put on his white paper hat with the Der Wienerschnitzel logo, tied the little red scarf around his neck, and began day one! He mixed up a starter pot of chili, which would be enough to carry him through into early afternoon if business was what he hoped it would be.

			By ten o’clock his friends and family had arrived and parked their cars in the lot as John had instructed. Remembering old advice, he wanted to give the impression to anyone driving by that the place was busy, but not so busy that a customer couldn’t get in. Phil circled the drive-thru in his car while Myrna stood at the window holding Teresa’s hand, pretending that she was ordering. His basketball buddy Paul was also there, along with Marty and Glen Bell. They all came to support the opening.

			When not a single customer had turned up by eleven o’clock, Glen reminded John that the first day was no indication of how well he would do. “People need time to get familiar with anything new in their neighborhood. Don’t panic. A few customers will try it out, and then word of mouth will spread.” By the end of the day, a handful of people had stopped by. A few actually placed orders, but most of them were “lookie-loos” just curious about the drive-thru and the menu. John graciously thanked each of them for coming and encouraged them to tell their friends. By the end of the day, it was hardly the grand opening John had envisioned, but it was a beginning.

			In a few days, just as Glen Bell had predicted, the neighborhood slowly became aware of the new hot-dog stand with the crazy name. It checked off all the enticing boxes for customers: fast service, great food, cheap prices—and a unique drive-thru feature where you didn’t even have to get out of the car to order. Within a few weeks the store was breaking even, and within a few months it was actually turning a small profit. That was good news, but John wasn’t content just yet. He yearned to hear the steady cha-ching of the cash register and knew he needed that something extra to set him apart from his competition. He needed that X factor.

			Directly across from John’s stand was a small real estate office owned by a man named Robert Trujillo. Bob, as his friends called him, had worked with Glen Bell on acquiring properties for his taco stands. During that time he had helped Glen with an even newer enterprise he was launching called Taco Bell. Bob had originally sold Glen the property that Der Wienerschnitzel now stood on, and he was thrilled to see the fast-food stand built on what was formerly a wasted empty lot. He and John were like-minded and struck up an immediate friendship. Bob had been president of the Wilmington Chamber of Commerce and was an honorary mayor of Wilmington, which meant that he knew a great deal about the area. This of course interested John.
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					John minding the store.

				

			Every day on his break, John headed over to Bob Trujillo’s office to ask him a million questions: What were the hot areas for business in Wilmington? Where were his competitors planning to open new stores? What traffic patterns were most conducive to fast-food restaurants? John just seemed to know exactly what to ask. Bob worked with his best friend from elementary school, Bill Linder. Before joining Bob in the real estate business, Bill worked as a longshoreman at the Port of Long Beach. Every day from his desk window, Bill could see John crossing the highway heading for their office. He’d call out to Bob: “Here comes that Galardi kid again.” In truth, they liked John’s eager and enthusiastic visits. Bob and Bill saw that X factor within John and were both interested in how high this bright young man would rise—and how they could help him get there. After all, they were in the business of selling real estate. Down the line John could be a good customer if his Der Wienerschnitzel idea took off.

			On one of his daily excursions to Bob’s office, John mentioned he wanted to add some kind of special sandwich to the menu. Bill Linder quickly recommended a local place in Santa Ana that featured a Polish sausage sandwich. Right away John wanted to try it. He grabbed Phil, who was managing the Taco Tia stand in Long Beach, and the two of them made the forty-five-minute drive to Santa Ana. It was a funky little sandwich shop with a simple and limited menu. One of the few choices was a sandwich that was essentially a grilled Polish sausage sliced lengthwise and opened flat on rye bread with a slice of Swiss cheese, a dill pickle, and mustard. It was incredibly delicious, and most importantly, it was easy to make and fit in perfectly with the Der Wienerschnitzel concept. They decided then and there to add it to the menu at the premium price of thirty cents. 

			It was just what John was searching for, and it became an instant winner. Customers came back for it time and time again, and the addition created a significant uptick in business. John wondered if adding a few other specialty items would have the same effect. In his usual interrogatory manner, John asked everyone, “What’s one new thing you would like to see on the menu?” Baked beans and French fries received the most votes. John thought that beans and hot dogs were a natural combination, so Der Wienerschnitzel began offering a cup of baked beans as a side dish. Surprisingly, they weren’t a big seller, so he decided to give French fries a try. He took the gamble, invested in a deep fryer, and started on test batches until he found the best cooking technique to make the perfect-tasting fries. On the first day they were offered, they outsold baked beans ten to one. Cha-ching! Beans were out and fries were in.

			With all the additions and tweaks, the stand was taking off, and John was working harder than ever. He knew there was no time to rest, since competitors were always trying to gain on each other. Taking a page out of Glen Bell’s marketing playbook, John offered special promotions and passed out coupons in the neighborhood. He even honored coupons from other stores, figuring that the discount he offered would guarantee repeat business. He came up with the clever idea of having his workers grill onions, because he knew that mouth-watering smell alone could entice customers to come in. He also put up twinkling lights outside the store to catch the attention of passing drivers. The pursuit of how to get the most customers was never-ending, and it took up most of his time.

			Home life was booming along with the business. On November 14, 1961, Myrna gave birth to their second child, another beautiful girl she and John named Karen. After working twelve to fourteen hours, all John wanted was to come home to Myrna and his little girls. Seeing their smiling faces and holding them made all the hard work worthwhile. They were, after all, the reason he was working so hard to begin with. Myrna knew how much John loved his family and how hard he worked to support them, but she also knew how important it was for John to be successful in business, whatever the reason. In turn, she focused all her energy on taking care of the children and maintaining a happy home. Their arrangement was typical of many married couples at that time; the husband was the breadwinner and the wife was the homemaker.

				
					[image: ]
					Virginia and Ross with baby Karen and toddler.
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					John with his girls.

				

			Nevertheless, there was hardly any time for John and Myrna to be together as a couple. She had to constantly remind herself that someday, when the business was on a more solid footing, John wouldn’t have to work so hard. She hoped that it would happen sooner rather than later, but after three years of marriage, Myrna saw just how big John’s ambitions were. She sensed he would never be entirely satisfied with the status quo, and she was right. As soon as the first Der Wienerschnitzel turned a profit, John was already planning on opening another store. He believed that owning one store would only take you so far. It wasn’t until you owned a number of stores that you could make serious money. Whenever John and Myrna were out driving, no matter where they were headed, their trip always turned into a search for a potential new location for Der Wienerschnitzel. Myrna remembers John behind the wheel of their convertible, constantly turning to look back at an empty lot on some busy corner they had just passed or glancing at the rearview mirror. “John,” she would cry out in fear, “keep your eyes on the road! We’re going to get into an accident.” To John, his eyes were always on the road . . . the road to success.
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					Dominguez Water Company basketball team: John, #00; Ron Bryant, #66; Paul Hironimus, #77.

				

			Despite these reconnaissance missions, it was Bob Trujillo who ultimately helped John find the perfect second location in Wilmington. This time, John would buy the land outright rather than lease it. Once again he engaged Macy Coffin to build the store on the same terms and conditions he’d offered on the first Der Wienerschnitzel. Macy was already thrilled to be receiving the monthly check for 6 percent of the gross profits, so he was more than ready to turn those profits a second time. Bob Trujillo, Bill Linder, and Macy Coffin all agreed that John was the kind of person anyone would want to get into business with. He was kind, intelligent, and levelheaded, he never lost his temper, and he had a great sense of humor. He was basically just a great guy. Perhaps his best trait was that he never saw himself as above anyone else. He’d been a janitor and a boss, and so he appreciated the true value of both positions and everything in between. That is an invaluable and unique perspective to have in life, and one that you can’t teach.

			With the second store opening, John recognized that he would no longer be able to do everything himself. He was going to have to put together a management team that could handle a dynamic, growing business. The first place he turned to for managerial talent was his two best friends from his basketball team, of course. These were guys he trusted, not only because they were friends, but also because they shared the same core values. At the time, Ron Bryant was working for Tucson Bearing, and Paul Hironimus was still employed as a draftsman in an engineering office. When John offered them a position managing a hot-dog stand, they both laughed. They’d seen the kind of life that John was leading and how tethered he was to Der Wienerschnitzel day and night, and it just wasn’t the kind of life they imagine for themselves.

			When the second Der Wienerschnitzel opened in December 1962, the name was already locally recognized, and to John’s great surprise, the location was immediately successful. Suddenly, John was making more money than he could have imagined. The notion that this little hot-dog idea might grow into something big became more than just a pitch to his friends. It became his mission. Symbols of successful fast-food chains like McDonald’s and KFC were everywhere along the Pacific Coast Highway and throughout Los Angeles. That was what John wanted. He wanted a visual representation of Der Wienerschnitzel that was instantly recognizable. He was ready to start creating a brand.
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					Architect Bob McKay’s rendering of the A-frame design.
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					Three-dimensional model featuring the drive-thru.

				

			Through his builder, Macy, John met architect Bob McKay, who had designed the distinctive hacienda motif for Glen Bell’s new Taco Bell chain. John explained to McKay that he was looking for a signature building, something that people would instantly recognize as Der Wienerschnitzel. McKay mulled it over for a few days, and when they next met, he presented John with his concept. McKay had come up with the idea of an Alpine-style A-frame chalet, which was inspired by the company’s German name. John absolutely loved it and immediately envisioned how it would look, with the bright-red, sloping roof topped by a yellow-and-red “Der Wienerschnitzel” sign. Magical.

			And so in 1962 the first Der Wienerschnitzel A-frame—and third location overall—opened in Compton. The unusual architecture received some great media attention, complete with pictures and articles in the local South Bay area newspapers. It was every bit as memorable and eye-catching as the Golden Arches, Colonel Sanders’s smiling face, and Glen Bell’s swinging purple Taco Bell. Three stores quickly turned to four, and John needed help running them. He pressed Phil and their parents into helping out, as well as his cousin Phil Pisciotta. His basketball buddies were still hanging on the sidelines, but they kept up with what was going on with Der Wienerschnitzel and were amazed at what John had accomplished in such a short period of time.

			It wasn’t just the buying and building of the new stores that was occupying John’s mind. He was still constantly working on how to make the menu items tastier and the stores more cost effective. For example, John insisted that the hot-dog buns be perfectly steamed, warm and soft. Not every commercially produced bun could stand up to the steaming process and hold together, though, so John found a local bakery run by a man named Andy Soltis. He made hot-dog buns exactly the way John liked them. John liked them so much, in fact, that he bought the bakery and had Andy work exclusively for Der Wienerschnitzel. With that acquisition, John was building a vertically integrated business.
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					The A-frame Der Wienerschnitzel under construction.

				

			On the operational level, John was a real stickler about what he referred to as “running orders.” John had devised a system for speeding up the drive-thru ordering process. When a car drove in, before it even got to the order window, John would have one of the servers stationed outside to greet the driver and take the order. The server would then run inside and repeat the order to the cook at the grill. By the time the car pulled up to the window, their order would be ready to go. The “runner-chargers,” as John called them, were one of the personal services that made Der Wienerschnitzel unique. John had a phenomenal memory, and for him it was easy to remember every detail of every order, which was not the case for the majority of the servers. But John was adamant that writing the orders down on a piece of paper was a waste of time: “Get it in your head, and keep it there until you give it to the cook. Then get back out there and take the next order. You’ll get the hang of it.” That was John’s edict and everyone followed it. With practice, the runner-chargers all became quite capable of remembering long lists of detailed orders. It was a skill that would diminish when business became hectic, and the runner-chargers jotted crib notes on cup lids or paper bags. The system was eventually jettisoned when the highly efficient system of speakerphone ordering was introduced industry-wide in the 1970s.
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					Page from Der Wienerschnitzel franchisee brochure touting the company’s in-house bakery.

				

			By 1963 Bob Trujillo and Bill Linder began focusing on finding locations outside Wilmington for the Der Wienerschnitzel brand. John respected their suggestions, but he always had to make a personal assessment of the site before he made a decision. His instincts had guided him correctly up until that point, and he wasn’t about to abandon the tactic that had led him so far. His attention to detail was great for business, but it didn’t have the same effect on his family. Every time he drove to a potential site, it was time away from them. As the days and months went by, he realized that he was spending less and less time with Myrna and his daughters, but there was no relief in sight in the short run, so long as he wanted to stay on the fast track to success.

			For the first time in his life, John had enough money to do whatever he wanted. It was a stark contrast to his upbringing, and most of all he wanted to give his family what he never had. His vision of happiness included a nicer house and an even bigger bank account that would make him feel safe and secure in terms of his family’s well-being. Myrna was also raised in a family that was used to doing without, but a simple life was all she required to be happy. She and John were opposites in that way, so when John walked in the door of their little two-bedroom bungalow in Wilmington and announced, “I just bought us a house in Rolling Hills,” she was taken aback. Once again John had made a major life decision that Myrna was expected to go along with.
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					View of the Southern California coastline from Palos Verdes to Santa Monica.
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					John and Myrna’s Rolling Hills home.

				

			As levelheaded as John was about business, when it came to spending money, he had a bit of a flamboyant streak. Established in 1936, Rolling Hills was a wealthy residential development on the Palos Verdes Peninsula with two- to ten-acre home lots. Known for its equestrian lifestyle and bucolic setting, Rolling Hills had miles of horse trails, vast open spaces, and a spectacular view of the Pacific Ocean below. In the years since the developers first broke ground, Rolling Hills had achieved a reputation as one of the finest neighborhoods in the South Bay. It was also where Marty and Glen Bell had bought their house a few years before.

			John knew Myrna’s deep love of nature from her childhood in the Ozark Mountains. She even had her own horse as a child. So John thought the idea of having a ranch with horses might help make up for all the sacrifices she made for him throughout their marriage. The house itself was a far cry from their two-bedroom cottage in Wilmington. It was a contemporary ranch-style house with three bedrooms, three bathrooms, a big kitchen, and a fireplace that opened into both the living room and the den. At first, it seemed overwhelming to Myrna, but when John led her outside to see the panoramic view, her anxiety subsided a little. It swept out across the green hills, past the Palos Verde Peninsula, all the way to the Los Angeles basin and the San Pedro Harbor. 

			“Well, what do you think?” John asked. 

			Myrna suppressed her reservations that it was more than they really needed because she knew it made John happy. “I think we can be happy here,” she said.
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					Aerial view of the Rolling Hills development under construction.
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					John promoting Der Wienerschnitzel.

				

			 
	
			Five

			Franchise, Franchise, Franchise

				
					[image: ]
				

				
					[image: ]
					1964 family portrait: Myrna, John, Karen (L), and Teresa (R).

				

			By 1964 John, Myrna, and their daughters were living the California Dream. Cozy in his idyllic dream house, John had an easy commute from the Palos Verdes Peninsula to the four Der Wienerschnitzel stores he now owned. There were also, of course, more stores on the drawing board.

			Though John recognized he was a good leader, he knew he lacked a solid business background. Other than taking cues from his mentor, Glen Bell, he understood that he had a lot to learn if he was going to grow Der Wienerschnitzel from a mom-and-pop operation into a corporate juggernaut. He had some hard learning to do and knew that getting advice from coworkers wasn’t going to cut it anymore. He decided to hit the books and study experts in the business field. It was a surprising shift from his less-than-stellar college days, but that was John—always surprising.

			A Claremont Colleges professor of business management named Peter Drucker greatly appealed to John. In his concise book entitled The Five Most Important Questions You Will Ever Ask About Your Organization, Peter Drucker provided John with a template to follow as he built his company. Throughout his business career John would refer to Drucker’s book as a source of guidance, and he often quoted Drucker to his management team and franchisees. John could easily articulate the answers to some of Drucker’s five questions. The answer to the first question, “What is our mission?” was self-evident: to serve high-quality fast food at competitive prices in an efficient manner. Drucker’s second question, “Who is our customer?” took a bit more thought. It was easy just to say, “Anyone who’s hungry,” but there wasn’t much insight to be gained from that answer. As John mulled this over, he realized that the answer to this question would drive every decision he made regarding the future growth and branding of Der Wienerschnitzel. 

			In order to define his customer base, he began by quizzing everyone who had hands-on experience in the Der Wienerschnitzel family. He turned to his store managers, the runner-chargers who took the orders, and the employees who worked the order windows. He wanted specific information about his customers. He wanted to know who was buying in the early morning. He wanted to know what time the working people showed up, who brought their children, what percentage of older people did they attract, and were teenagers driving through or walking up? He asked them what the average ticket per customer was and what they were buying.
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					Customers and employees chowing down at Der Wienerschnitzel.

				

			John wasn’t shy about interviewing his customers directly, either, in order to answer Drucker’s third question, “What does the customer value?” Customers were quick to offer opinions regarding the menu, service, and pricing, such as how much chili to put on a hot dog, what new soft drink to add, or what kind of family specials they would like to see on the menu. At neighborhood barbecues, family gatherings, and basketball games, John couldn’t restrain himself from asking guests what they thought of Der Wienerschnitzel. He was perpetually in work mode. Usually, one of his buddies would have to remind him to relax. Over the years he turned even family meals into focus groups. As his older daughter, Teresa, remembers, “Dad loved to grill me and Karen on what we would eat or drink if we had a dollar. I remember him asking us, ‘What would you buy or how far would you drive if you had a dollar and a car and only thirty-five minutes for lunch?’”

			The answer to Drucker’s fourth question, “What are our results?” was based on the financials. John kept meticulous records of the daily sales at each store and the cost of labor, food, supplies, and overhead. He had an uncanny memory for numbers and could tell you within a dollar what each store was generating on a daily basis and the average ticket per customer. By the time the fourth store opened in 1963, he could hear the cha-ching of the cash register loud and clear, which had been his goal from the very beginning. His consolidated financials indicated that Der Wienerschnitzel was showing a healthy profit across the board. John seemed to have found a winning formula, and he was sticking to it.
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					Franchisee promoting a two-fer sale.

				

			Drucker’s fifth question, which certainly must have given John pause, was, “What is our plan?” John, in what would become another of his lifelong habits, scribbled down his ideas on paper napkins. They were reminiscent of modern hieroglyphs, filled with arrows, boxes, and question marks. Weeks went by, the paper napkins piled up, and John was still no closer to coming up with an answer he could wholly embrace and get excited about. Every potential plan was fraught with doubts and fears. Looking over his notes and diagrams, John articulated his five- and ten-year goals, but he didn’t have a clue as to how he was going to achieve them. He knew the beginning and end of the story, but not the middle.

			Sticking with the teachings of Peter Drucker, he found a nugget of wisdom in the chapter on self-awareness: look within yourself and your organization to identify the strengths and weaknesses. John must have had an epiphany, because what he came up with as the answer to the fifth question was what ultimately propelled him to break through the ceiling. He knew the strength of his organization came from his personal dedication and his involvement in the day-to-day operations, but paradoxically that was also Der Wienerschnitzel’s weakness. He could not expand beyond what he could accomplish himself. If growth was his main goal, he needed to figure out a way to incentivize others and make them part of the solution. John grabbed the nearest napkin and wrote down one word: franchise.
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					What’s in store for you as a franchisee: a breakdown of “der-cash investment.”

				

			John knew that Glen Bell had recently adopted franchising as a method to attract individuals and their capital to grow Taco Bell. There were many variables to the concept of franchising. Basically, the oversight of the franchise business was left to the Federal Trade Commission rather than the Securities and Exchange Commission. This meant that franchising was not strictly viewed as an investment, although franchising was a way of attracting other people’s money. The basic feature of franchising was that the franchisee paid an initial buy-in fee to the parent company and a monthly 5 percent of sales for the use of the name, the brand identity, and the support of the parent company.

			Each franchisee was required to purchase their own equipment and supplies (typically from the parent company) and was responsible for hiring and supervising local staff. Most importantly a franchisee was required to uphold the operating standards of the parent company and adhere to the basic menu. In turn, the parent company provided training and support for managers and workers. They also paid the rental fee to the owner of the land on which the restaurant was built, as well as advertising costs.

			Franchise agreements were typically written for a period of ten to fifteen years. At the end of the agreement, both parties had to agree to extend the term of the franchise agreement. At that time, the franchisee was often required to make additional investments in their individual stores, such as upgrading equipment. Convinced that the franchise model was the key to Der Wienerschnitzel’s growth and the way to bring in investors and partners, John incorporated Der Wienerschnitzel in the state of California in 1964. He then hired an attorney to handle all the paperwork and draft a franchise agreement. At the same time, he put together a management team that would help engineer the growth of the company.

			His first direct corporate hire was Bob Trujillo as director of real estate and investments. It would be up to Bob to attract partners willing to invest in the company in order to build a number of stores before lining up franchisees. The company also needed working capital to function until franchisee royalty fees and other payments starting rolling in. Raising capital was a new venture for Bob Trujillo, but he felt confident. With his many business contacts and John’s exciting vision for Der Wienerschnitzel, coupled with his persuasive personality, he would be able to pull it off. Admittedly, he and John were two brash, young entrepreneurs who were both learning on the job. “Fake it until you make it” comes to mind.
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					Description of franchisee training: guaranteed to make you a success!

				

			Construction of the buildings was paid for by the landowner, a group of investors, or Der Wienerschnitzel. John was open to making any kind of deal that would result in opening another store. Phil later said, “It was the Wild West, and everyone was shooting from the hip.” During the company’s infancy, everyone operated according to the principle “do whatever works.” Bob obviously believed in John and felt that Der Wienerschnitzel had tremendous upside potential. He was a convincing fundraiser and succeeded in attracting investments from people in his business network who trusted him and were willing to get in on the ground floor. It also didn’t hurt that the hot dogs were delicious, and the stores were unmistakable on busy street corners. 

			With money in the bank, Bob and Bill Linder were tasked with finding vacant lots for new stores. They searched in Long Beach, Carson, Torrance, and San Pedro. The real estate was cheap, and the customer base was similar to that of the four operating Der Wienerschnitzel stores. The two men identified a number of sites that met John’s criteria. Once John had looked over the property and given his approval, Bob negotiated the price and closed the deal. In short order, Bob secured the necessary building permits, and five more stores were under construction by 1964.

			While sitting in a favorite cafeteria in Long Beach with Macy, going over the construction details for the new A-frames, John scribbled a note to himself: Contact Ron re. Tucson. John was already envisioning expanding Der Wienerschnitzel throughout the southwestern United States. He landed on Tucson, Arizona, as a launching pad, because it was an ideal market. It had loads of cars, commuters, and planned communities with high-density housing. The year-round sunshine was an added bonus. And best of all, it was the new home of Ron “Ronnie” Bryant, one of John’s best friends and his teammate on the Dominguez Water Company basketball team. Over the years, he and his wife, Jeanne, had become very close friends with John and Myrna. Teresa, Karen, and the Bryant’s four daughters were all around the same age, and so the two families often vacationed together. Ron had recently been relocated from Long Beach to Tucson.

			More than once John made Ron an offer to come work for him, but each time Ron turned him down. Ron was very happy with his position at the bearing company; he was making a good salary and had a comfortable life. He told John, “Why would I walk away from a steady salary and take a gamble on Der Wienerschnitzel? You’re my good buddy, but I think I’ll stick to ball bearings.” But now, as John mulled over the plans for the next five stores, he had the numbers to show Ron exactly how much money he could make in the fast-food industry. Ron was so impressed that he agreed to talk it over with his wife. Jeanne then talked it over with Myrna. Myrna talked it over with John. After a lot of soul searching and skillful salesmanship, John assured Ron that he would stand behind him until he got his feet under him financially.
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					Testimonials from three successful franchisees to entice new owners.

				

			In 1966, Ron Bryant became the first out-of-state franchisee for Der Wienerschnitzel. John couldn’t have been happier. This was, after all, always how he imagined his dreams for the company would come to fruition. He wanted people he knew and trusted to be a part of its success. His success would be their success. The Bryants started with one store in Tucson and a $9,000 loan from John to cover the opening costs. They agreed to pay off the loan in one year. It turned out that the profits were so good that within three months the Bryants were able to pay John back. Within one year, they opened four more stores in Arizona. It was incredible.

			By 1965 it seemed as if John and Der Wienerschnitzel were an entrepreneur’s dream. Everyone who had bought into the business was turning a profit, and the returns on investment exceeded all expectations. In the 1960s, the United States experienced its longest uninterrupted period of economic expansion in its history. By 1965, General Motors, Standard Oil, and the Ford Motor Company had larger incomes than all the farms in the US. For the first two years of the Johnson administration, the inflation rate was under 2 percent. The urbanization of America and the economic boom definitely contributed to Der Wienerschnitzel’s success. How long all of it would continue was anyone’s guess—it’s hard to predict a bubble bursting. It was a great time nonetheless.

			Ron Bryant was so excited about how things were panning out for him and Jeanne that he contacted another old basketball teammate, Paul Hironimus, and said, “Paul, you’ve got to get in on this. Call John immediately.” It took some convincing on Ron’s part, since Paul had a predictable, solid career as a draftsman in an engineering firm and a family to support. But Paul was finally convinced and called John. “Is that offer of work at Der Wienerschnitzel still good?” he asked. Another buddy joining the team made John ecstatic. It was all coming together. With his background in engineering, Paul could bring many worthwhile skills to the company. That said, John didn’t want him to just manage a store; he wanted Paul to analyze the business from the ground up. He started him in the kitchen, slapping mustard on hot dogs and running orders.
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					The profit picture of a Der Wienerschnitzel store.

				

			After three days on the job, Paul looked in the mirror and thought, “Is this what I gave up my well-paying job in an air-conditioned office for? So that I could run after cars in a mustard-stained shirt wearing a funny little yellow hat? I must be crazy.” But John knew exactly what he was doing. His decision to put Paul in an entry-level position was sheer genius. In short order, Paul identified ways to improve the operations of Der Wienerschnitzel. After only a few weeks of sweating it out in the kitchen behind the grill, Paul noticed how the hot-dog buns were steamed in a separate piece of equipment that required constant maintenance. To address the problem, Paul designed an ingenious system that allowed the steam that was already being generated from cooking the hot dogs to be diverted into a chamber to steam the buns. It was so successful and cost effective that the equipment was introduced in all existing stores and became part of the standard equipment package for all future Der Wienerschnitzels. His idea was a huge win for all.
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					Paul Hironimus stands proud in his Der Wienerschnitzel blazer.

				

			As the champagne popped and confetti flew, the new year rolled in. It was a great start to 1966: almost all twenty Der Wienerschnitzel stores in Southern California and Arizona were reporting healthy profits. John’s entire family was now involved in managing or owning individual stores, including his parents, Phil, and his cousin Phil, who was the family’s trailblazer to the shores of the Pacific Ocean. Based on the strength of the company’s balance sheet and pro forma income statement, Bob Trujillo was able to attract numerous investors, including some Texas oil millionaires. He even convinced his sister, Esther Beard, and her husband to become franchisees with a stand in San Pedro. As many early franchisees and investors pointed out, it wasn’t just the financials that made the company so attractive, it was also John. His trustworthiness, self-confidence, and charm were at their peak and continued to win people over as they always had. John was a rainmaker of sorts. People believed in him and were willing to follow wherever he was headed.

			As Der Wienerschnitzel moved into other western states, everyone in the company had to make sure they were on point. They had to maintain control of the franchisees and be confident that the stores could compete effectively in new markets. The huge constant that always helped Der Wienerschnitzel was that no one else was serving hot dogs in a big way. That alone gave Der Wienerschnitzel a competitive advantage over other fast-food chains and made it an attractive option for potential franchisees. In addition, the buy-in price of $20,000 was less than what McDonald’s and some of the other chains were charging. This meant that those with less credit or savings could still find a way into the fast-food industry.

			John was on fire with his plans for expansion. This time his gut told him that San Bernardino was fertile territory for the Der Wienerschnitzel brand. He took a trip there to scope out the scene and ended up at a real estate office called the Royal Huntley. When he entered he came upon twenty-six-year-old Kirk Robison sitting behind a desk. He was a newbie who had just started working in real estate. For Kirk that day was one which he would never forget. “So this guy named John Galardi had seen a sign on a property with Royal Huntley’s name on it. He walked into the office and I happened to be there. He introduced himself and said, ‘I’ve got a few hot-dog stands called Wienerschnitzel, and I’m looking to open some new locations in San Bernardino.’ And that quick hello was the start of our relationship.”

			John found Kirk Robison to be as much of a go-getter as he was. John seemed to have a way of attracting people similarly minded to him. Kirk scouted out prime locations for Der Wienerschnitzel stores and helped John successfully deal with local landowners and builders. “A year later John called me and asked if I would be interested in taking over the job of finding new locations for Wienerschnitzel in all of Southern California. I wasn’t committed to living in San Bernardino, and it was easy enough for me to relocate, so I said, ‘Sure, let’s talk about it.’ We met at a coffee shop in West Covina. ‘Here’s the deal. If you come to work for me, I’ll pay you one hundred and fifty dollars a week, and I’ll give you a Texaco credit card to pay for your gas.’ That was more than I was making in real estate, so I agreed, and John hired me on the spot.” And just like that, Kirk Robison was in on the ground floor of the great fast-food expansion.

			On John’s twenty-eighth birthday, he realized he had exceeded his initial goals for the company, but he was still formulating ways to drive the growth of Der Wienerschnitzel even further. Whether he had heard this quotation from one of his mentors is unclear, but his actions certainly reflected Michelangelo’s philosophy: “The great danger for most of us lies not in setting our aim too high and falling short, but in setting our aim too low, and achieving our mark.”

			By December 1966, there were ninety-three franchised and company-owned Der Wienerschnitzel stores in Southern California, Texas, Illinois, Arizona, and Georgia. Over the next year, the company created subsidiaries to service the stores. Der Wienerschnitzel already owned the Swedish Bakery, which manufactured bread products for the chain. They also owned an equipment company that purchased kitchen equipment that it then leased to the franchisees. In a five-month period in 1967, Kirk Robison and his team closed an incredible thirty-eight deals in eleven states. With the large number of additions, John’s attorneys suggested that he consolidate his various enterprises, which were originally structured as sole proprietorships, into an umbrella corporation. Der Wienerschnitzel Unlimited, the name of the corporation, started issuing stock to John and his investors.

			By the end of 1967, despite the size and scale of Der Wienerschnitzel Unlimited, it still remained in line with John’s vision. It was still first and foremost a family-owned business, which John was pretty proud of. People often wonder what it was about John Galardi that set him soaring at such a young age or how he became such a visionary. Some credit his laser-like focus on business, or his burning desire to escape the poverty of his childhood, but those qualities can be compared to many others who tried and failed. What John had was a deep sense of kindness and a respect for all people. That sentiment seems simple enough, but those attributes are a hard find in the often cutthroat business world. In that often angst-ridden environment, John somehow never lost his temper or his sense of humor, and he never lost touch with the better angels of his nature. He stayed on his moral track, and that propelled him into a league all his own.
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					John having a ball at the beach promoting Der Wienerschnitzel.

				

			 
	
			Seven

			Rollercoaster

				
					[image: ]
				

				
					[image: ]
					Sample of the proposed Der Wienerschnitzel stock certificate.

				

			The excitement of going public probably glossed over the truth that this wasn’t just an effort to grow the company. In the opinion of many insiders, it was, in fact, an effort to save the company. The rapid expansion had taken a toll on the finances of Der Wienerschnitzel, and the anticipated returns had not materialized. Company debt was over $2 million and growing at the rate of $60,000 per month. They were bleeding cash. While everyone waited for the good news, John, attorney Dick Hodge, and Vice President Bob Trujillo were all keenly aware of how much was riding on the stock offering.

			Bob Trujillo took the call at lunchtime. He knew immediately from the sound of John’s voice that the news wasn’t good. In a measured way, John explained that the accounting firm—whose job it was to certify that the company’s financial reporting was in line with SEC regulations—refused to give their blessings to the company’s balance sheet, income statement, and pro forma financials, all of which were necessary for an SEC filing.

			Bob’s heart sank. He knew John must have been devastated. This was going to take some time to sink in, and neither he nor John could quite get their heads around this sudden reversal of fortune. The best explanation for what happened was that the company was too highly leveraged, and Der Wienerschnitzel’s ability to repay its existing debt was called into question. Also, the numbers didn’t adequately take into account the rise in cost of raw product: flour, meat, etc. But whatever the reason, the bottom line was that, without certification, there could be no public offering.

			“Jeez, John, what are we gonna do?” was all Bob could ask. In that rare moment John didn’t have an answer. Both men knew that without the capital to service the John Hancock debt, they were going to have to run very hard just to keep standing still. With over two hundred stores open and more launching every day, the money they’d received from new franchisees was already being spent daily just to keep up with the rapid pace of construction. For the first time John was overpowered by the thought of bankruptcy. There was now a real possibility they could lose everything, and Der Wienerschnitzel would go out of business.

			Bankruptcy: “utter failure or impoverishment.” The very definition of the word made John’s skin crawl. This wasn’t just about money. This was about family, and being able to take care of them and all those who were counting on him. He knew what it meant to be financially impoverished. Escaping that demon had been the driving force of his life. Now here it was again, threatening to take away everything he’d worked so hard for. This was a fear so deeply ingrained, he was loath to face it with anyone—not his wife, not Bob Trujillo, not Richard Hodge. And in reality, maybe not even himself.

			It’s been said that the smarter you are, the better a trap you build for yourself. John had become a master of keeping his thoughts and feelings under control, and now, as his world appeared on the verge of collapse, he continued to put on a brave face. Richard Hodge remembers John’s reaction to the aborted public offering: “Through it all John remained cool and calm; he knew the importance of putting on a game face. It was a brave display of courage from a thirty-one-year-old facing a major business setback that could unravel into a full-on bankruptcy.” Meanwhile, in contrast to Der Wienerschnitzel’s disappointment, the Taco Bell offering was successful, and by January 1970 all the stock had been sold.

			One of the great gifts of John’s early athletic training was how it taught him that life isn’t about how you get knocked down; it’s all about how you get back up. John was determined to find a way to recover from this situation. He didn’t have a solution, but he knew he would do it. He had to. He made a promise to himself that he would pay back every penny owed. But it was the immediate future he was most concerned about. John was aware that the news about the failure of the public offering would be a blow to everyone on the corporate side of Der Wienerschnitzel. He didn’t want that panic to create chaos among the individual franchisees, so for now it would be business as usual, both at work and at home. 
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					John Galardi’s profile in the Der Wienerschnitzel franchisee brochure.

				

			It’s not surprising when Myrna speaks of that time that there is a sense she was only vaguely aware of the stressful time John was going through. “Of course, there were unhappy times when things didn’t go quite the way John wanted. We went through some ups and downs when the company tried to go public. And I don’t know the details of that and why it didn’t work, and there were a lot of expenses with New York attorneys to deal with. It was pretty much a disaster, although it did make the company remain a family business. But those were hard times.”

			A family business—that was a concept that John could wrap his head around. In fact, the one regret he always had about the prospect of taking the company public was that he’d be giving up that satisfying feeling of owning a family business. As a man who always wanted to be in control of his fortune, the public offering meant that he would have to relinquish a great deal of the decision-making to a board of directors and stockholders. Der Wienerschnitzel would no longer be a nimble company able to respond quickly to his creative input. All important decisions would be made by faceless executives in boardrooms with reams of legal documents, instead of in coffee shops with stacks of paper napkins.

			So if there was lemonade to be made out of these lemons, this was it. The company would remain a family-owned business, and over time that would become the big difference between Der Wienerschnitzel and most of the other fast-food franchises swallowed up by Wall Street. Der Wienerschnitzel and all its employees would stay the one thing John cherished most in life: family.
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					Ads, billboards, flyers, coupons . . . anything they could do to bring the customers in.

				

			Initially the only way John could think to pull himself out of debt was to redouble his efforts to turn a profit. He knew that it took money to make money, and whatever the company could afford was spent on advertising and branding efforts. The new company slogan was “Look for Der Red Roof.” It may not have been the most creative example of advertising copy, but it certainly drove home a visual message. Additionally, flyers were an inexpensive way to capture customers, so there were all kinds of flyers tailored specifically to appeal to local clientele. There were also bold outdoor billboards, and even a few eye-catching models. The additional expense of advertising was passed on to the franchisees, and as their expenses mounted, the price of the hot dogs increased from fifteen to eighteen cents. This was a time when every penny counted.

			While John continued to put on a brave face, inside the company the cracks were beginning to widen as revenue continued to fall behind expenses. Bob Trujillo’s memory of that time is painfully clear: “We built two hundred stores in three years. The volume wasn’t there, and we really started losing a lot of money. We were getting a little ahead of ourselves. We owed all the vendors, we couldn’t pay them, and then we had that loan with John Hancock, a million dollars or more, we couldn’t pay them.

			“We had a guy named Volker Brandlemeier in accounting, a German guy with a thick accent, and he would run through the hall saying, ‘Vee are brrroke. Vee are super brrroke.’ Those were tough times. There was never any exaggeration of what we were doing or trying to do. It’s hard when people trust you, and you’re honest with them and then things go wrong.” 

			Bob and John were using every trick in the book to cut corners, including making some painful decisions about the franchisees. Desperate times called for desperate measures, and when they finally realized they could no longer shield the individual owners from the truth, they had to be open about the state of the company. Bob describes one of the measures they were forced to take: “We actually sent a telegram to everyone saying we’re not paying full rent; if we were paying one thousand dollars a month, we were only going to pay six hundred dollars. We said we need to lower the rent, and then we’ll pay you back over the balance of the lease. And they all said, ‘What if we don’t do it?’ My answer was, ‘Well, then we go broke.’ They didn’t have much in the way of an alternative. At least if they complied with our proposal, they had a chance of getting their money back eventually. So it was better for them to take the chance and do it.” All of them agreed to go along with the company’s offer because 50 percent of something was better than 100 percent of nothing.

			While the company was renegotiating leases, John steeled himself to renegotiate the terms of the loan with John Hancock. He assured them that he had every intention of paying off all he owed; he just needed time. They did renegotiate, with very stringent restrictions on how Der Wienerschnitzel was to conduct business. Among the restrictions were limits on purchasing or opening new stands and a requirement that the company maintain a certain net worth for a period of two years. Hancock knew it was better to receive their money over time than take a loss by pushing Der Wienerschnitzel into bankruptcy. John agreed to the terms, which gave the company a little breathing room. There was still the problem of those stores that were losing money on a daily basis. The slow climb out of debt would take months, if not years, and John knew that many stores would be forced to close as a result of the imminent belt-tightening. 
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					John with Karen (L) and Teresa (R).

				

			Through it all John worked hard to keep his cool, shelter his home life from the stress he was under, and provide a positive, upbeat attitude for his staff and associates. Unavoidably there were people who got hurt, and that resulted in one particularly frightening episode when a disgruntled owner of a failed store walked into John’s office brandishing a gun. John, who had proven his ability to remain calm in the face of disaster, said very little. Instead he listened intently and let the man talk until he had his say. Who could have anticipated that John’s ability to listen could save his life? But this time it did. The owner put away his gun and left satisfied that he had been able to talk to the head of the company, which was really all he came for. John was aware of how differently it all might have turned out, not only for himself, but for others in the office, if he had countered the intruder with aggression. Instead John used his calm demeanor to literally dodge a bullet.

			Calmness was a trait Dick Hodge first noticed in John when they were on a trip together. “We were in Boston for the financing deal with John Hancock, and we were at a bar one night after the meeting, and I got into an argument with some guy standing at the bar next to me. I was getting really excited about it, and John was like, ‘No, no, Dick. No, no, let’s just forget about it.’ He grabs me and walks me out of the bar. That’s how he was in any situation; he never became too excited. And he was a great reader of people. He could understand people and figure out what they needed. He had a great gift for getting along with lots of different people.”

			For all his business savvy, John often exhibited a certain naiveté that some might call “charming guile.” Dick Hodge recalls one incident in particular: “We were at a big dinner, an elegant dinner in an elegant hotel, and the waiter was running around taking everybody’s orders. John said, ‘I think I’ll have the steak tartare,’ and the waiter said, ‘Fine,’ and John said, ‘And I’d like it medium rare.’ And the whole room roared, just exploded, and John asked, ‘What did I say?’ We had to explain to him that steak tartare was raw ground beef, and do you think John blushed? No, he said, ‘That was really stupid, wasn’t it?’ It was so genuine. That was typical of John.”

			Thanks to John’s tenacity and the hard work of everyone involved, the company started moving away from the financial precipice, but so slowly that there was still no end to their losses in sight. They did everything in their power to promote the image of Der Wienerschnitzel as a viable and growing enterprise. They launched an aggressive public relations campaign and participated in conventions and regional trade events that recognized successful franchisees. National conventions became key to bringing the Der Wienerschnitzel family together and keeping morale high. And any bit of good news was embraced to the maximum.

			Even in the midst of all the doom and gloom, there was occasionally a ray of hope. Certain stores continued to show profits, and the owners had confidence in John as a trusted leader. One night, while John was checking the monthly income from all the stores, he noticed that one store in particular, in Fresno, California, was having an unusual spike in sales. The following day he met with Bob Trujillo to show him the figures. Both men decided it was something they needed to check out. Maybe this owner was doing something they should know about. John dispatched his trusted associate Kirk Robison to take a look at the Fresno store to see what the owner was up to. Two days later the word came back. The Fresno store was offering a special giveaway: “Buy a Coke. Keep the glass.”
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					Coke adds life and profit to Der Wienerschnitzel with promo.

				

			The store owner had purchased a large number of classic Coke glasses and was giving them away with the purchase of a Coca-Cola. It was the first time a giveaway of that kind had been introduced in the fast-food industry. It was proving to be an extremely popular promotion, and the return traffic was enormous, because customers weren’t satisfied with just one glass—they wanted a whole set. That was exactly the kind of return business Der Wienerschnitzel needed in order to establish a loyal customer base. This was John’s kind of franchisee—a man who had found a way to stay within the boundaries of the company guidelines and add a clever idea that accomplished the most important objective in business: dramatically increasing sales and profits. The idea was a cheap investment that resulted in big returns!
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					John presenting an award to Kirk Robison at the 1976 Der Wienerschnitzel National Convention.

				

			John quickly allotted $6,000 for marketing and advertising and launched the “Buy a Coke. Keep the glass” promotion throughout the entire Der Wienerschnitzel chain. This was the turning point. It was so successful, in 1973 the company sold 15 million Cokes as part of the giveaway marketing strategy, which jump-started the entire company and finally turned things around for the better. The dark clouds of the past few years had started to recede, and up ahead the sun was shining.

			If John hadn’t paid special attention to the numbers at one of the two hundred stores, the situation could have turned out very differently. As many pundits like to say, God is in the details, and certainly that was the case. John had dug himself out of a deep hole through perseverance, optimism, a bit of good luck, and a heck of a lot of Coca-Cola glasses. It had been a rollercoaster, but the company was now back on track, and things were gathering speed. As for the John Hancock debt, John paid it off in full. And as a result, his stellar credit standing with John Hancock remained intact his entire life.
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					Aerial view of the city of Pasadena looking northeast, 1958.

				

			 
	
			Three

			What’s in a Name?
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			A week after their arrival in California, the Galardis rented an apartment in Pasadena. They hit the ground running in their search for employment. Unfortunately, the Eisenhower Recession temporarily slowed job opportunities, even in California. The desirable jobs the Galardis dreamed of didn’t materialize as quickly as they had hoped. Within a few weeks, though, Ross, Virginia, and Phil had all managed to find some kind of work. John was not as lucky and still on the search. For three full days he knocked tirelessly on door after door up and down Colorado Boulevard, looking for a job. He never lost faith and remained determined and optimistic that every no was one step closer to a yes. Uppermost in his mind was his promise to Myrna. He was going to find a way to meet the obligations that came with marriage, one way or another.

			On the fourth day of hunting, the hot sun was settling over Colorado Boulevard when John walked past Taco Tia. A man named Glen Bell owned the Mexican fast-food stand in Pasadena as well as a number of locations in San Bernardino. It seemed this most recent addition in Pasadena was off to a rocky start. Bell was apparently facing difficulties that he hadn’t experienced in his other stores, including finding quality employees. Minimum wage was the going rate, and out of the fifty people who applied for a job, none of them met Glen’s standards of an ideal candidate.
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					Glen Bell’s Taco Tia restaurant grand opening, late 1950s.

				

			On that particular day at dusk, there was a woman outside hosing down the parking lot. About to give up on his search and go home for the night, in a last-ditch effort, John called out to her, “You lookin’ for any help?” The woman happened to be Glen Bell’s wife, Marty. She worked right alongside her husband, taking care of the books and general business matters, so she was very well aware of the difficulty they had been having trying to find responsible workers. After taking a look at John, she sized him up as a presentable young man. 

			“What kind of work are you looking for?” she asked. 

			He smiled back. “Anything you got.” 

			John was bright and eager, the exact qualities the Bells were finding so hard to come by in their employees. Marty wasted no time leading the way inside. John was hired on the spot and started the very next day as a part-time janitor making fifty cents an hour. Though the pay wasn’t ideal, it was the start he’d been searching for. With his confident nature and ebullient personality, John knew he wouldn’t remain a minimum-wage employee very long. What he didn’t know was that this chance encounter would change his life forever.
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					Taco Tia advertisement from the February 9, 1958, edition of the Orange County Registe.

				

			True to his word, John was willing to do any kind of work required. He cleaned everything spotlessly and would stay well past closing hours to make sure the taco stand was in tip-top shape. Not only was John a hard worker, he also wanted to learn everything Glen Bell had to teach. Glen recognized that John was special, and he was happy to share what he knew. In the hours after the store closed, John and Glen often hung out together talking about everything fast food, as well as Glen’s vision for expanding the Taco Tia brand. John wasn’t shy about throwing his own unique ideas into the mix. Glen recognized the great potential in John, and the two men developed a close bond.

			Besides being a good businessman, twenty-nine-year-old Glen Bell was also a great showman and marketer. He was known for staging elaborate store openings with mariachi bands, dancers, and banks of klieg lights sweeping the night sky. He also offered coupons and giveaways for a Taco Tia bargain. He passed on invaluable secrets about the industry to John: for example, have your friends park their cars in the lot next to the restaurant to make it look busier than it is, and the colors most apt to stimulate a customer’s appetite are red and yellow. Perhaps the most important lesson John learned from Glen, though, was that customers wanted high-quality food and service that was not only fast, but also friendly and personable. John often heard customers comment on the good quality and low prices of the food, but the key to success was about much more than that. John understood that the speedy service and the servers’ bright smiles and eager-to-please attitude kept customers coming back to Taco Tia. 
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					Views of an early Taco Tia where John got his start, thanks to Glen and Marty Bell.

				

			Despite the slow start at the Pasadena Taco Tia, Glen’s business was thriving elsewhere. He was also involved with three other partners in a new chain of stores under the name of El Taco. John quickly saw that Glen Bell and his peers in fast food were on the cutting edge of a booming industry. Several factors were prompting this surge in the fast-food business. One was that teenage boys wanted cars, which meant they needed to work. Part-time fast-food work while they were still in school was ideal, so these teens made the hiring pool huge. Marketers and advertisement agencies jumped on this development. Their ads featured cute girls adorning cool cars and touted burgers and drinks. They brilliantly paired the fast-food industry with California’s car culture. It became cool to eat on the go. Also, women were joining the workforce and often didn’t have time to prepare a homecooked meal. It was convenience for all.

			As the months went by, John observed Glen even more intently. He saw that he was always focused on the bottom line and how to make his business ventures more profitable. After all, it always came down to profit in the end. Glen recognized that servers in the individual stores spent too much time cleaning and cutting up vegetables, so he decided to open a central commissary where the bulk of the prep work could be handled by a small crew. The food would then be shipped to the Taco Tias and El Tacos in and around Los Angeles. The concept was solid, but the cost savings were negligible, mainly because the commissary was poorly run. Glen knew he needed a responsible employee to manage the entire commissary operation for it to work. John thought that was a great idea, especially when Glen asked him if he would take over the job—with a pay raise. Of course, he jumped at the chance to get a weekly salary and rise from the ranks of the hourly minimum wage.

			That promotion put John on the fast track to fulfilling all his promises to Myrna. By the time she graduated from Southwest Baptist College, John had a steady, responsible job with upside potential that paid an unheard-of $150 per week. He rented an apartment in Pasadena for him and his bride-to-be and sent Myrna a one-way train ticket to California. At last they began planning their wedding. They had made it through the distance and obstacles, and the pieces were finally all in place.

			Unfortunately for the Hickey family, money was still an issue, and there was no way they could make the trek west for the wedding. Myrna’s mother set to work making that wedding dress she had been dreaming about for her daughter since she met John. With every stitch she held fast to the fervent belief that her daughter’s decision to marry John Galardi was the right one. She knew it would give Myrna limitless possibilities that could never be realized in the small town of Iberia, Missouri. She had faith that John would take care of her daughter and that ultimately, she would be happy. At the train station Myrna’s father tearfully handed her the box with her wedding dress as he saw her off. Myrna carried her wedding dress on the train all the way to California, knowing that the separation would be tough, but that her family was happy for her. She was off on the biggest adventure of her life.
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					Myrna Hickey and John Galardi marry at Pasadena’s Little Chapel of Roses on June 5, 1958.

				

			John and Myrna were married in Pasadena’s beloved Little Chapel of Roses on June 5, 1958. Myrna walked down the aisle on Ross’s arm, wearing the dress her mother had hand sewn. She was in every sense the proverbial radiant bride. As Ross handed Myrna over to John, sunlight streamed through the famous stained-glass windows, bathing the couple in a heavenly glow. In a simple ceremony, they became husband and wife.

			For their honeymoon, they borrowed Aunt Mitzi Pisciotta’s ’57 Chevy and drove down the Pacific Coast Highway to the San Diego beach town of La Jolla. It was paradise, and unlike anything Myrna had ever seen before. The spectacular display of pink and purple in the sky, the bougainvillea that decorated the white stucco walls of the idyllic town, and the pristine beaches were something out of a dream. It was a magical place to start their new life together. After all, they were both twenty years old, and the world was theirs for the taking.

			Their dreamy honeymoon lasted only two days, because John had to get back to work. Luckily, Myrna quickly found a job as a typist for which she worked nights in an office in West Los Angeles. With the money John had been saving, they bought a used Renault, which she used to drive to work. Zipping along the freeway, Myrna couldn’t help but smile at how different her life was from anything she had known before. Snow and rain were a distant memory. Now palm trees and sun filled her days.

			On New Year’s Day, six months after John and Myrna were married, all of Glen Bell’s employees climbed up onto the roof of the Taco Tia for a front-row seat to the Tournament of Roses Parade down Colorado Boulevard. Relaxing on their rooftop chairs as the flower-covered floats and snappy marching bands rolled past, Myrna and John thought about the folks back home watching the parade on a little black-and-white TV, a blizzard encasing their old homes and lives.
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					The Rose Queen and her court at the Pasadena Tournament of Roses Parade.

				

			Within a year of John’s promotion, Glen Bell had moved him from the commissary and installed him as the manager of his Taco Tia in Long Beach. Myrna was excited for the move, mainly because it meant John wouldn’t come home every night smelling of chopped onions. With the move there also came another shift. It seemed that between the Taco Tias and the rapid expansion of all the new El Tacos, Glen Bell suddenly found himself in over his head financially. Glen needed capital to open several new stores—and he needed it fast.

			He knew that John had been carefully saving his money, so he asked John if he could borrow $6,000 with the promise he would repay John $9,000 within three months. John was happy to help Glen out but insisted he would take only the $6,000. Three months came and went, and Glen was unable to pay back the debt, so he had to make a radical business decision. He came up with the idea to turn the Long Beach Taco Tia over to John for a bargain price of $12,000. The terms were that John would pay off the additional $6,000 as a loan, after which the stand would belong to John. He accepted Glen’s offer immediately. This new development meant that in just a little over a year, John had gone from being a part-time janitor at a Taco Tia to the proprietor of one in Long Beach. He always knew he wouldn’t stay making minimum wage for long, but even that huge jump must have taken him by surprise. The Galardi family celebrated the amazing news along with an additional development: Myrna was pregnant!

			On April 30, 1960, John and Myrna welcomed their first daughter, Teresa. When Myrna placed Teresa in John’s arms for the first time, his heart swelled. He hadn’t anticipated how deeply this beautiful little baby girl would affect him. Her arrival would reinforce his determination to provide a stable and wonderful life for his family. He was more resolute than ever to ensure that his daughter and wife wanted for nothing.

			At the time of Teresa’s birth, John and Myrna were living in a rented duplex that was walking distance from the Long Beach Taco Tia. But now that John was a father, his own boss, and finally making real money, John thought it was time to really settle into the new life he was building. He found a quaint house for his new family in Wilmington for $19,000. When John told Myrna about it, he had in fact already purchased it. Making monumental decisions and then telling his wife after the fact would become a pattern in John’s life. He believed he was doing what was best and that she would go along with whatever decision he made. Right or wrong, that was how things were.

				
					[image: ]
					Myrna and John with daughter, Teresa, and John’s parents, Virginia and Ross, 1960.

				

			Though the new house was a shorter commute to the Taco Tia than their old home, John was gone a great deal. He was often at work from eight a.m. until closing at ten p.m. The long hours and responsibility were a lot for anyone to handle, even someone as motivated as John. Most of the customers worked at the nearby oil refinery and at businesses along the Pacific Coast Highway, but not every patron was that breed. There was always a group of rowdy kids who’d park their cars in the Taco Tia lot. They would order one taco and spend the rest of the evening being menaces. One night, a particularly irritating kid stuck his head through the order window and carved his initials on the side of John’s brand-new cash register. John wasn’t one for confrontations, even though he was physically fit and could have easily taken the kid down in a fight. That wasn’t his style. John was much too cool and collected for that. He simply took a knife from the kitchen, went out to the parking lot, and carved his initials on the hood of the kid’s car. Let him explain that to his father!

			That night when he finally made it home, Myrna could see the exhaustion in John’s eyes. After relaying the unpleasant incident, John just shook his head and said, “Maybe I should have become a basketball coach.” It was a lament he would often invoke when things weren’t going well. Once the dust settled, though, he would refocus on the positive. 
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					John holding toddler Teresa with his father, Ross, 1961.

				

			Great customers made it all worthwhile as well. One of John’s favorite regulars was a late-night customer named Paul Hironimus. Paul was a tall, athletic twenty-three-year-old draftsman who worked in an engineering firm. He and John became fast friends when they discovered their mutual love of basketball. Paul was playing on a local team sponsored by the Dominguez Water Company. When he learned that John had gone to college on a basketball scholarship, he invited him to join the team. John needed no convincing.

			Basketball was a much-needed respite from his daily routine at work. John was fired up for every game, and his aggressive drive even helped push his teammates to play better. The guys on the team all became close friends and eventually the center of John and Myrna’s social life. Myrna loved watching John play, just as she did back in college. She was still his number one fan and attended every game along with the other players’ wives. The young couples, who were all in their twenties, became a tight-knit group. Watching Monday night football on TV was a weekly ritual. The couples took turns hosting the festivities. They would be at John and Myrna’s, at the Hironimus’s, or the Bryant’s. Dinner would be chicken, pizza, or hamburgers. One of John’s trademarks was knowing how to mix friends and business in a relaxed and fun way. He was a master at bonding.
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					(L-R ) Friends Ron and Jeanne Bryant, Paul Hironimus, Pat Galardi (Phil’s wife), and John and Myrna.

				

			It wasn’t all fun and games, though. Back at work, Glen Bell kept a close eye on John and watched him make a success of the Long Beach Taco Tia. Since the store was part of Glen’s brand, John’s success was his success as well. Glen had purchased an empty lot in Wilmington, in a working-class neighborhood at 1326 North Gulf Avenue. It was about five miles from the Long Beach Taco Tia and a straight shot down the Pacific Coast Highway, which was a major artery that connected one beach town to another. Glen had intended to help his father-in-law open a fast-food restaurant on the lot, but when that didn’t pan out, Glen had another idea.

			“How would you like to open your own restaurant on a piece of land I own in Wilmington? I’ll help you just so long as you stay away from tacos,” Glen proposed. And just like that, the deal was done. Glen would lease the land to John, and a handshake would seal the deal (there’d be no formal written agreement). Glen made it clear that he’d help John in whatever way he could, but it was up to John to put together the financing and come up with a new fast-food concept. To help get him started, Glen introduced John to Macy Coffin. At the time, Coffin had established a reputation as the number-one builder of successful fast-food restaurants in California. He’d built stands not only for Glen Bell, but also for many famous sports figures who were investing their hefty paychecks in the fast-food business. Macy was a powerful guy who handled every aspect of construction and an interesting fellow. One day when some of his workers were arguing about how to lift a heavy piece of machinery onto the roof of a stand they were building, Macy hoisted it on his shoulders, climbed up the ladder, and exclaimed, “Now that’s how you do it!” Obviously, he was John’s kind of guy. So the two men went into business together.

			Macy would put up the $15,000 it would cost to build a stand, in exchange for 6 percent of the gross profits. John grabbed the deal, but there was still one huge unanswered question: What should he sell? McDonald’s, Burger King, and In-N-Out Burger had cornered the hamburger market. KFC was selling fried chicken like hot cakes, and tacos or Mexican food were off-limits. Sunny Southern California was after all the epicenter of the fast-food industry. Glen suggested, “You know, I did well with hot dogs at one of my first ventures in San Bernardino. What about hot dogs? They’re cheap and easy to prepare, you don’t need cutlery, and they’re popular with adults and kids. They could be a real winner. And no one is doing hot dogs in a big way.”

			That was the answer! Glen’s logic quickly sold John on the idea of hot dogs. It was new and fresh, just what he was looking for. The next order of business was the name. A catchy name is crucial in fast food. He and Myrna hunkered down and brainstormed for days without success. “What about John’s Hot Dogs or Wonderful Hot Dogs?” They were officially stumped, until one evening they were having dinner with Glen and Marty Bell. Marty said, “I was looking through a cookbook today and saw a recipe for Wiener schnitzel. How about that? It’s got wiener in it, which is another word for frankfurter.”

			At the time, everyone thought it was a terrible idea. Someone said, “Wiener schnitzel is a breaded veal cutlet, and who would even know how to pronounce it? I can’t imagine anyone asking, ‘Where’s the nearest Wiener schnitzel?’”
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					The first hint that Der Wienerschnitzel was on its way, 1961.

				

			Two days later, while John was driving around looking at restaurant signs, still struggling to find the right name, he recalled something he’d learned in a marketing class at Southwest Baptist College. When people hear a brand name that sounds familiar, they think, Oh yeah, I know what that is, then dismiss it. But when they hear a name that they don’t know, it catches their attention, and their curiosity is piqued. They ask themselves, What’s that? Hmm, I’ll have to find out. John ran the idea by a few friends who all also thought Wiener schnitzel was a terrible name. So, just like that, John knew it was the right choice. That would turn out to be the way that John made many of his important decisions. He would test out an idea on other people and then end up trusting his own gut instead. Oftentimes it was contrary to everything he heard.

			The name was good, but it still wasn’t perfect. John felt that it needed a little something extra. So he added Der in front of Wiener schnitzel. Technically it’s grammatically incorrect in German, but he liked the sound of it, and so he trusted his gut yet again—and Der Wienerschnitzel was born. How Der Wienerschnitzel got its memorable name makes for a fun story to this day and has been the target of good-natured jokes over the years. You can’t say “Der Wienerschnitzel” without smiling. 

			With the name and featured item on the menu firmly in hand, John had other problems to solve. Most pressing was finding a way to pay for the opening costs. He could think of no people better to turn to first than his basketball buddies. After a game and over some beers, he asked, “Anyone got five thousand dollars they can loan me?” Predictably, they laughed. Like John, they all had families to support and were struggling to pay the bills they already had, so they hardly had that kind of money individually—or collectively—to loan him. He still had to try. Undaunted, he pushed forward and asked literally everyone he knew. Unfortunately, he kept coming up empty-handed.

				
					[image: ]
					Front elevation drawing of A-frame Der Wienerschnitzel as designed by architect Bob McKay.

				

			He considered getting a bank loan, but he knew he didn’t have the collateral now that Myrna was a full-time stay-at-home mom, and they were living on one paycheck. Reluctantly, John turned to the two people he least wanted to ask. Ross and Virginia were both working steady jobs for Sears, Roebuck and Company. While their paychecks did not allow them much in the way of luxuries, their credit was good. Supportive of their son as always, they secured a bank loan on his behalf. John promised his parents that he would pay the loan off as soon as he could, and that was good enough for them. They knew that John’s word was his bond.

			Now that he had the money to get started, John met with Macy to approve the architectural plans for Der Wienerschnitzel. These were pretty standard blueprints for the kind of stands that Macy had been building, which weren’t original enough for John. He wanted the stand to have a drive-thru window. At the time, the drive-thru concept was a novelty in the fast-food business. There were only a few stands with that feature in all of California, but John knew that the drive-thru was imperative. It was going to solve a number of customer and service-related problems he had identified working at the Taco Tia. He knew from firsthand experience about rowdy teenagers who liked to hang around the parking lot. John figured if people could order from their cars, pay, and drive away with their food, he could maintain better control of the environment and handle more customers in less time. Macy thought it was a simple fix and modified the blueprints by dividing Der Wienerschnitzel into two small buildings separated by enough space for a car to drive through. The front building housed the order window and the kitchen, and the back building held the supply room, walk-in refrigerator, and office. Construction was completed in just three months, in June 1961, and came in on budget, with Macy at the helm and John overseeing its progress.

			During construction John was busy at work on the rest of his lengthy to-do list: signage, uniforms, kitchen equipment, and supplies. He also kept in mind the adage of “Keep it simple, stupid” in regard to the menu. A work in progress, it would have only three types of hot dogs—with either mustard, chili, or sauerkraut—and soft drinks. Hot dogs were fifteen cents and drinks were ten cents, right in line with competitive fast-food prices. A unique recipe for chili, which would be Der Wienerschnitzel’s “special sauce,” was also important to John, to further set him apart from the pack. Once again, John turned to his mentor, Glen Bell, who had years of experience developing the Mexican chili recipe they used at Taco Tia. He and Marty assured John that he only needed to adapt their original recipe by adjusting the Mexican spices in order to cook up a tasty chili that would go well with hot dogs. After an endless evening of making one pot of chili after another, adding, removing, and adjusting ingredients to each trial batch, they finally came up with the winning recipe that everyone agreed was delicious. 

			With everything falling into place and the grand opening of Der Wienerschnitzel only days away, anticipation was at a high. To add to the excitement, Myrna announced she was pregnant again! A new chapter was about to commence.
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